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EDITORIAL
After Ye Past 1S Momertous Yemrs...
On The Threshold Of A New Era

e are all aware, that global changes are taking place and the search for a new

world order is causing serious political tremors in a status quo defined and

sustained by a declining ‘unipolar’ hegemony. The Armenian nation, whose past 15
historic years were marked by trying times, commemorates and celebrates losses and triumphs,
that culminated in the reestablishment of an independent, sovereign state after 75 years of total
dependency under a foreign autocratic regime. In a region beset by constant turmoil, our 15-

year-old state still strives for the recognition of its demographic and territorial integrity.

Just when our resurgent Homeland, the Armenian Republic, was mustering all its poten-
tial for the rebuilding of the areas devastated by the 1988 carthquake, it found itself constricted
in the relentless noose of the Azeri-Turkish blockade, aggravated by murderous border clashes,
an acute shortage of grain and fuel, and most of all, the on-going conflict over the status of

historically and culturally Armenian Artsakh.

In those days of confrontation with our determined opponents, the contribution of each
and every Armenian to our common cause had special significance. The ARS, as an experi-
enced, global Armenian organization with numerous regional chapters and countless supporters,
both in the Homeland and the Diaspora, felt deeply the urgency of its commitments and

remained cognizant of the very real needs of the day, and the immediate future.

In this context, the year 1991, as well as the fateful years preceding and succeeding it,
were a frantic time of accelerated accomplishment for our Organization, in a pan-national
context. The successful results that we witnessed wouldn’t have been possible without the total
commitment of all our regional executives, all our entities and their membership and, most of
all, our loyal friends and supporters throughout the Diaspora and the Homeland. With such

backing, the ARS family was effectively able to assume extraordinary responsibilities.

Naturally, there was an accumulative price tag attached to these countless projects — all
necessary, all worthwhile — albeit, way over our means. As a result, today, the Armenian Relief
Society looks to its devoted membership, its loyal supporters and concerned benefactors to
replenish its depleted resources in order to continue its long, uninterrupted service to our nation

whose growing needs cannot be ignored.

We are more than confident, that over the next three years, with the same zeal and
enthusiasm shown over the past decade and a half; all our regions and chapters — as well as
our supporters world-wide — will stand by us and make our fundraising efforts for the ARS
Centennial Fund an unqualified success, allowing us to continue our humanitarian work while

attaining new standards of excellence in our expanding services. 9
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wywupubh i Upgupuh <wbpuytipniptiwubg

dtidwngn) Mupnb Lwpuwquhbtip, Whhuwb

<wjng ti ULdh Swil Uhhyhny dkhwthwn
Lwjpwwtipttipn, wpdwbwwunpht hngtionp hwygptip, jup-
qupdwl whypulwh wyptp nephlbwgp, uhpbith hwypb-
twlhgltin,

<wy Oqiniptwb Uhniphiip, 18,000 winudbbkpny,
unpwoniwd 24 tpyhpbtipne vk, hp 225 dwubwshint-
nny, npytu hwdwhuwyjuwuwd tphgugnyt yuquiwybp-
wniphibbtptt dht, wbqud dp tivg, 66 nipuwhunipbwudp
'nneni ik wyu Gppnpn <wywuput-Uthhinp fluonphpnu-
dnnnyp np Yp gqniqunhyh hwy wypuljuin pbwub
Jtpuiuhiugdwh b wquy huygptih hnnh Yypuy <w-
Juuqubh <OU-h hhdwnpdwh 15pn Swptinupabb-
nnil:

Ltpyuwy lunphpnudnnnyhtt hwdwp, @npdwnhp Swba-
Owhunudph yuwppuuypud opwwingn, 2wy hwbquidw-
Gopkl, btipunwd £ tpynt hwiwqquyhtt Yohe nt qpunpn-
nniphil nbtignn hwpgtp.- wnwehtin” <wjwupui-
Uthhinp, hwjptihp-wpgtipyhp thnfu-jupupbpni -
btipn te gnpowlgniptiwd ttpluwy yhtwyd nt wyuquy
Juntihnphibbbnh G, tpypnpnp <wjuugpubh
ghinuijut hwdwytpttipnt” qupqugdw dpwgnph
phbwpymdt k:

Wnwohl hwpghl wnbsnipbiwdp, dtin wngti 4n
wuwpgnih wdithnh wyiie puguwjwyy hwdwjbwuugplybp
un.- Wuon, wphuwnhny dty ytpwwpnn hwy dnnnynipnp,
priw) hp ptoppwitht uky wayhibp wdkh op junwenh-
uniphil wpawbwgpnn whyppuuimn ptiwh
uwhdwbbbpth bbpu, pw wpuwphh gpbpk pninp
punupwihpp Gpyhpbtipnid uk wspunn
obpQuyniehil innn qunmpbtpk btpu - hp
ttinbguuwl, punupwwl, dwpnuuhpuljui,
dwpquljui, dyuynipwht nt nuuphwpuwysuut
nbnupawy Junnygbhtipny, puquwtignt duwdniny nu
[nupniwljub thengbtinnt gubigny, (dnuwd &
huwywltppiw@ ohths wuunpubpht:

(@nj pnitp putipny, pL wyu pnnpht gnpdtwuw’t hw-
dwnpiwh dSpwgpuinpnidp - npnih uyqpbwud pwytinn

CUyh. Swudhy Stpintptwl

wnlniwd Yp pnikhb pu <wjuugput-Uthhiop wnwgh@
funphpudnnnyht huy - shpwlwbwgnig wyb pwithp np
Jwybuithtp ponpu’ b ptiu wyh pubnuyjuempbwb
. wyuppuugpuijuin pbwd’ np Yp gnigupbipnibp wju
hwdwhwyuub dnnnybtipnib pbpwgphb:

Lounmbting hwontpa dtp wqgnyph@ hwdpbpug jw-
nwonhin phwb dwbwwywnphht Yypwy nhdwgpuitijh
hungpnnupitipnt hpwubtiniphiip, Yp hwrunpw'@p e
dwdwtw o wytiiy, hpujutwgityne tie gnpdh’ nitne
utip hwiwnptiu jupnnuiuimphiop h fubnhp dtp
hwypthph hqopuguwb b wywhnyniptwb n dtp dn-
nnynipnh bhipwiud n hngjub pupquuusdwi:

@y nitp Onjhytu, wju wbqud tira Ypyibng, ptwn
Ytbuwud hwdiwnpnudp nutnuintignn wqnuybpkt
dht 4p Gyupbbp - pwbp’gu (nipg Ghupnnniptiwb wp-
dwlwgwd uwljuyl, f'bs hos updwnitipny, nhin wi-
Ontwsth dbugud (hgmuuljub bbpluy hpuwyhdwyp, np
Un vyunbw) hwiwhwjjulub vywlnjeh puubpnytg
nuptipnt nujtinbhy wow'tnp tnnn dtp gpujub (tgniht:
Wompwbw ' Jyuubg dp np Juptih sk winpbut, pppu]
Uthhinph, pu <wjwugubh dty:

Uthhinpwhwy dwnpnuy utipniinp <wjuugputh uhpny
nt onilsny ingnptipn, quyt wbpwypthopt@ hp hwynpt-
Ohphl Juytiint nunnmptwdp pupninn wpluwgpubpp -
nn §’'nongpyk hwdwhwjyujuwd dwpqujub dpgupup-
ptinni, pubwynudtitinnt, jpnphpnpudnnnytipnt uquiw-
Ytnwnidp - huyuw) Swhwwuwph fypud £, wyunthw-
ntipd, wyu pninpp hwpy Ewnun ] oo byupujuujug
nt hptinnuw@ atiny dSpugntip: Wuon, wpnkth hul,
L Gptiiwbh vk ti el dwpgtipm rupwdpht, Guyptih
rht 4p Juqutb hwyptbhpht judiuinpuybu Swowybnt
tQwod uthhinpwhwy Gphypuuwpnbtipn: Mkgp £ gnipgni-

(Cwpnthwlyniphian Lo 5-p puy:)



ARS Chairperson’s Address

3" Armenia-Diaspora
COﬂfef CYYCC 10 in Yerevan, Armenia, Sept.18-20, 2006

ost Honorable Presidents of the Republics

of Armenia and Artsakh, Holy Fathers of

the Ejmiatzin and Antelias Catholicosates,
Reverent Memebers of the Clergy, Honorable Minis-
ters and Public Servants, Ladies and Gentlemen:

The Armenian Relief Society, as one of the senior
pan-Armenian organizations, with its 18,000 members
in 24 countries and its 225 active entities around the
globe, once more extends its warm greetings to this
3rd Armenia-Diaspora Conference, coinciding with
the 15th Anniversaries of the 3rd Independent Repub-
lic of Armenia, and the foundation of the Armenian
Relief Society on Armenian soil.

The Organizing Committee’s Agenda for this Con-
ference focuses, in a timely fashion, on two issues of
national importance: First, the present and future pos-
sibilities of Armenia-Diaspora, Homeland and abroad
relations and cooperation; and, second, the issue of
implementing a program of growth and development
for the rural areas of the Republic.

The first issue displays for us a concise, yet pan-
oramic, picture: Today, our people, scattered through-
out the globe — whether in a corner of its historic
patrimony, making progress every day as a sovereign
nation within its narrow boundaries, or as respectable
communities in practically all civilized countries of the
world — carries on the task of keeping alive its na-
tional existence through its vast network of cultural,
religious, political, humanitarian, educational and ath-
letic establishments, through its multi-lingual press and
news media.

Permit us to say, that the planning of the practical
coordination of all this — the first steps of which
were initially taken at the very First Armenia-Diaspora
Conference — did not maintain the momentum ex-
pected by all of us, in view of the expressions of
commitment and enthusiasm displayed during the de-
bates and discussions at both conferences.

Even making allowances for inevitable difficulties on

the road to coordination on a national scale, we be-
lieve, that it is time to orchestrate full harmony and put
to use our collective potential in order to bring our
best to the strengthening, security and continuous de-
velopment of our Homeland, as well as our people’s
physical and spiritual well being,

Allow us also to repeat once more, that we consider
the present disarray of our mother tongue a serious
threat to this vital coordination between Homeland
and Diaspora. An issue discussed many times and yet
— for whatever reasons — still expecting resolution.
The present disorder threatens our literary language, a
national cultural heirloom sustaining us for sixteen cen-
turies. This is an undeniably serious challenge, that can-
not be ignored — neither in the Diaspora nor in the
Homeland.

Our efforts to inculcate Diasporan youth with love
of Homeland and nation, to tie them securely to their
historic, ancestral patrimony — through pan-Armenian
jamborees, camping seasons, conferences, etc. — have
come a long way, nevertheless, they need to be more
frequent and result oriented. Today, already, in Yerevan
and throughout the regions, the number of Diasporan
youth who have come to serve the Homeland has
reached an impressive number. We must nurture these
programs and expand them.

On the matter of removing obstacles, we would like
to mention also the issue of legislating the status of
dual citizenship, still pending. One cannot argue the
fact, that more binding the Armenia-Diaspora ties, the
more forthcoming — as proud citizens of Armenia
— the devotion and commitment of our Diasporan
people towards the strengthening and continuous de-
velopment of their Fatherland.

Proceeding to the second major item on the Confer-
ence Agenda: The coordinated development of Ar—
menia’s rural areas, we wish to remind, that the ARS,

(Continned on the next page)



nwy wyu dSpwghpbtinnih ypwy tie pinpuipawlyt
quibnbp:

Tongpmmipitinnt ytipuwgdwd hwipgny,
'niqtilip jhotighty bwtn gwpn shpugnpdniwd
tpypunupughniptiw® ophtwljubwgnudp:
Wayhstih £ wyb ppnnniphibp, pE nppuw@ ubkipg
nuw <wjuuput-Uthhip Juutipp, wybpuw@
witith upyuupnifu i ppwyy — npuytu
<wywupubh <wbpuy i ptiwb hywpg
punupwghbtin — uthhinpwhuy
qubgnudtbpnt gopwlgmphilp hwyptoh wb-
pniptwb hqgopuguwb:

Wagttiny wyu junphpnudnnnyht opwjup-
ght wnwigpp Yuqunn tpypnpn hwpghti —
Lwjwuyputh ghinujut hwdwyipbtipnt hw-
dwihp qupqugiwl wywhnydwb jubinpht — §’'mqtibp
Jhotigityy, pt KOU-p, huypttth qrupuwdpbbinnt
wwwhnynipbwd tjugpiudp, nwqiujupuijub oni
dipuwhngniphibtbptdh wnwelinpnniwd, Wpgwjuh
wqupugnnith wdhpwytu tGuypp, atinlupltg, tie
hpwluiwgng uwhwdwhwdtng tie wij) ghibipnt dke
htipnunthh Uout, Uwyphyh winiing <OU™-h
Uwbuuwuppkqbtinnt dSpughpn:

utpuyhu, Wpgwjuh 12 dwbuyupgpkqitpnid Ynn-
phty, 4p dpwgnnih Quuwhuph, htsytu bwtin <wjwugquth
uwhdiwbwdbpa te wy ghintinnid uke tiru hwuunnbyg
«Uouby» dwbljuupptqitip’ npyku wnweht puyy” ght-
nuuwb hwduwytpttipm wipnnoww@ qupqugdwi:

Whpn'py, wyu hwhpé thpuwdwljubbbpth typ, wp-
owndnmwod wyu jnyd Juptinp, b wbnbg Ynnpht puquw-
Pht jwpwlhg hwpgtipne onipg, pninpu wy wehpp whiph
nthwbp w b dwipudwubopth wpguywppnibne,
Jhtwpwbtint, unphppuygnt tie juipuiy tgpujugne-
phbbtnm jubgtine, npdk tiyip, wtpp L wigbhbp dbq
pnnp’u hnu ptipnn hwdwhwuu’t
dypuwhngm phibbtpt m hwpgtipp, shwubwpwp, mdtnt
[nipg wotuwypubpht:

Bwennniphil tie wpnhibun b hwdwnpmd Yp dwn-
Rrtip hwiwhwyjulwh wyu unphpudnnnyhii:

Sunphwjuynihil

GREYUL 2006
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led by the very same strategic concerns, right after the
liberation of Artsakh, initiated and realized a program
of “Soseh Mairik” kindergartens in numerous border
villages of Artsakh.

Presently, alongside the 12 Kindergartens in Artsakh,
there are plans to implement the same program in Ar-
menia and Javakhq as well, as an initial step towards
the repopulation and revitalization of neglected rural
areas.

Naturally, following this and other brief introductory
words, all of us will have our turn to express our
opinions and discuss in detail not only the major items
on the agenda but many other important issues, hope-
fully leading us to clear conclusions, after which, we
must get busy working seriously together for the solu-
tions of the issues that have brought us here in the first
place.

We wish this pan-Armenian Conference success
through a concerted effort of coordination and coop-
eration.

Thank you.

HASPORA
COMNFEREMCE 111
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<uy Oqghmpapbiwih Upniabwh wppumphunpupnd huwqwlibpwyniahiip
Un yuwappwupnih bpkp pwphlbh holyyne hp hhttuunpugalwh 100-wklaulp :
Suyypwpupund L hwhquibnulynipplwh wppuu dp, hp mqqognip
gnponihinahip wnwily kv Owiwyloynt wmumowmnpubhpny :

Wjuon, huwy Yubwbgh dtdwgnyt Juqiwybtpuyniphiop hmbnhuwgnn wyu dhmphibp, qgup dp
wnwy U.Lwhwbqbtpmb dky hhdomuwd Ep’

W.- wnwn duwdwbhwl hwywuiplynt hwdwp huwbhpognip dbnhwplhbipn b
hhdbiwnpniphiibbpn.

L.- Qwdwdwpuwlh, wunpbpwqih b hud nplul wnbph wwhni' oqllynt hw-wp
Yhpuunplwhlipny, upoypnbwhbipn b gnhlipn plupuwbhplibinnii:

Nne <wymyphibp Ypiwy yyuyty, pt wydd dhpwqquyht ypupudnid nibignn hp guiigny, <wy
Oquniptiwl Uhnphibp ns dhuyh wbptinopth jupqud L hp ulqpiwubd byguypuybtpp puphitipn
nipwgpht’ wh Uhdwwtu pbnw)bwd £ dtp pninp qunnipbbpkh Gbpu hp hwywbmkp
gnpdnbtnipbwd quopp: hul <wjuwupubh b Wpgwpuh wijuwhinpbith h up Gnjd Gmhpnuing hp
gnpdniLbtniphiip pupwdwd L bwbt wylptin:

100-witwyh npuiwhuph dwubwygbine Ynsp wboniogp ninnnuwd £ hwdurjb gh-puljhg
huynipbwb: Spniwd ppuny <OU-h pwph hwdpunp Juulwd snbhd pE 4nsp whyph ugpubug
pinhwbnip npwljubt b dkdugnmiwnp wpdwqubg:

Wuop §'nighid uwluyd otionnti] pupnyulju’ta wytt dwutiunp yyupypuujubtnyshiop np niotht
<O0U-h 100-wdtwy gnymipbwd phpwgpht’ wyluwphh wyu jud wyl wbyhibp, wyju Jud wyb dtny
wju Uhmpbwl oduinuniphiip yujtjud ptypuihputpnt Gt wthwpbtipn gwununhnubpp:

Cwpunhnibipp wbnig npnbp, gnp ophbwly’



= Eyhnap ppowapic nhn dhwybh U. whwiqibkpn ki Subuwpuyh <OUR dn-puwuipbind
dwubwdpimbpnt «dby npph nhi 4k nulp>» JGwpnidng dwhl hud upngq Inpnoupl wqu-
wnliguiL:

= Uadhowlwi jhap-bnbnibkwb ppowiptc wyu huwdd wyh bphhpp hwuwwb npwylu quin puw-
hwl ppbwly i wyu Upngebabh wbdpowlul ubanian b phwdp upwguile:

= Upnpebhwd odwhnwlyniphian Jyuylymny nppuwbngbhlipn: Ul wuwmpuwuwpniiguih:

= Uthpunpbwi nplult qunniph jugqiuunpdwi ulijpqpli dhbskt wydd <OUR phnulpui,
opowbhuyhll uwd hinpnhwluwh dwpdhbhbbpli odwhnuwlynigphii wipuwgud wdlkiliopniuy
Yyuwpdwpwbhbn judwpbighii:

= <lmpghlupl wyilibiuwy; qunnipibpn ks <KOUR pugud b dhbsk wydd hnywbuwimpud
wdlkhopbuwy ni dphopbuy nuypnghbipk ppowhwiwpyn kjuh:

= Uhohht Upkibjhwh dhp qunniplbpn nypnghbipnil ¥k wyu Uhpniplul puppuud
«Nawly dp hhpuwynip»ny whwbbguili:

= LOUh pphnuwlwi, opowbhuyhl ki Ghnpniwlwi duwpdphhbbpti hppwpnswly wypwmguili:

= KOUh wyihiwy; dhuunphbipn pugud b dphskt wydd hnjuwbhuunpuwd phlpuyhi ow-
nuwynipbhuwl Ynpnbbbpn, nuwpdwbuapniblipn b dhpwhngh gnipgnipwbpn yuybjbghti:

= Rhwlwmb wypmquil wunbiplilipn dhonght KOUh wilpnne guiligh qopul-gnipbui
wnwpluwy nupdull:

= Uhbstkt wydd bpwlyplanimn pbnuwlumi Ynpibabpn phpwgehi <OU R odwhnwlyniphiipn
upwguilL:

= Uhbghit hugnnipdws Yuywbbbpn b wdwnhuwyhl dwdpuwpbbpn puphphlipp uw-
Jhjlighti:

= L0OUh wdwnbuwyhl hwywghypwlumi nuuphpwgphlipnii phnphjpu hpkhg huwyniphiip
wdpwwbanbighti:

BL nhin bl Jwipwdwubdtn wyb pninp nppwpubwd. «Uop-ni-Uwbiuby», pbwdwpupulud Ytin-

nnbbtpn, pwptiuhpuywb, dwiuuyuwmnpkqbtipm gubgh dpwghpbtpp, npnbp <wjuugpwuih, Wp-
guwfuh m Quuuwjuph ke wyuon Yhpwgnpdnihtt <KOUh gwpkpny:

Wn, atp piptiumphiop wydd pupbjunwd swpunhnibp: «btppp dh wwh atpb L hhdw». oqlb-

1m hwiwp, np <wy Ogimptwd Uhmphiop hp Gwhght m obpluw) jubdbwemphbbbpnid swupphi’
nupdwdk tnp Ykpptp. odwinult tn'p uphpbtpne. tnp hhrwbnbbpm, Gnp npptipne:

Qtip tmhpwypnumphiop uypuptine hwdwp dh° vyguukp 100-wdtwyh potbwuypupdwh

tognhyp pniwjubhb: Snippk gipd puptjud Jwubwydwpibpng wjdd ujutigkp htipghtipt niquip-
iyt abp npnpwd gmdwpp:

Oqumiptwb gnpdp jEpuwagmy sh” dwbshwn:

Guipt Stp Utpnbbtwb-Uhbwubwb



Lujuuynutth <OU-h 15pn Swiptinuipa

Whwphny UEY, 30U-nihhlutn 3wwwpnitgwl Iuywunwl
Uhwupl Solwuwwnwnbint 3wjywuwnwup Oquniptwl Uhnipbwl G
Q. 3wlpwwbwnnipbwl 2njqg Swpbnwpdubnp

ARS/Armenias 15" Anniversary

ARS Members, Worldwide, Gathered in the Homeland
to Commemorate the Anniversaries of ARS/Armenia
and the 3 Republic of Armenia

By Georgi-Ann Oshagan

tipptipnu, <wy Oqinphwi Uhniptiwh

whnuwuibtind nt hwdwlhpbtinp (pugnight

Lwywupuith <OU™-h ppowliuyhl shunnphb
huyptiihpkh Gtipu gnpdnLbtmphibn bonn, tphnt Jwpwp
pnnmphwdp pobwljuypupniphibbbpp” thwduniw-
wl dhwbwny hptbg puqiwhwqup hwyptbwyhgbb-
nl potwupuptipnt <wjwuguih Q. <wbpuuytpn-
ptwl 15-wdtwyp tiru:

fodpwyht oppwuypnunitip, wygbniphibtitip te dhop-
tiwy fjunphpnudnnny dp wnwbigpn Yp juqutht Uby-
ytidptiph 15-L0 dhbgt 27 ppinn qubwqub dinbwpyot-
nnil: Gpwb Jhnpnbwgwd wyu Ginypbtipp §pon-
gnytht btwtn Upgupul nt Qunwipupn:

Wdhubtip pbionn wugppuugniphibbitint typp, Gpow-
wynjupitin nu puptinuipdwyht potiwrjupuupni ghi -
Otipp yptinh nuotigut <OU-h Gtinpniuub Jwpgnt-
rtwb hnqwbhhb btippti: <wy Oqiimptwd Uhmptwub
winuddtp W puptudbtp tiwd tht Uhwugbwg Lw-
hwqbtptt, Quitupuytt, Spuwbuuyth, Wnghlgphbwgto,
Wugpnuwiihwykh, bypuhwytt, Qtpdwbhw)th, Lhpwbw-
OLh, Uniphwytt, Qogihwyth, Yhypnutt, Snibwugpwdki,
Quuwjuptl, Unguwjutth m <wjwupuibh quiuquib
onowbiitipt:

Unjhwuntit, <OU-h Ytinpnbwluwd Twpsniptiwb hip
winudbtinn thwgnidwp dnnny Up nuitigud, dwubwin-
nwpwn Ynpnbwbwny <wjwugpuibh, Ungwhuh e Qui-
twfuph uky gnpdwnpninn dSpwghpbtippr ypuy: <OU-h
noytpnihhbotpt e hwdwyhpotpp, ubwy. 18-20, btip-
Juy gpinttigut twhi <wjwugpubh junwyupniptwb
Wpyupht gnpdng bwhuwpupnipbwb Ynndk, juqdwybp-
wprwd <wjuwugpui-Uhhiop Gppnpn funphppudnnnyhtt
nin <OU-h Gtinn. Jupgmptiwh wptbwwytipnihh, pogh.
Swuvhl Stpppkptw b ginuue <OU-h wupquudp hwippi-
nuinp dnnnjuubbbpn b hhiptipn bipuym pbwb:

Quntwupyutpnih pnpn'p upqunpniphiabbpp ppud tp
<0U-h <wjywuqubh Spowbwyhl upsniphibp:

embers and supporters of the Armenian
‘ \ / I Relief Society recently concluded a two-
week celebration of the ARS Armenia
region’s 15" anniversary of operation within the
Homeland and joined their compatriots to com-
memorate the coinciding 15" anniversary of the 3™
Republic of Armenia.

Commemorative tours, celebrations, and visitations
and a day long conference dominated the Sept. 15-27
celebration. Activities were based in Yerevan and in-
cluded visits to Artsakh and Javakhgq.

Months in the planning, the tour and anniversary cel-
ebration were held under the auspices of the ARS, Inc.
international Central Executive Board. ARS members
and friends attended from the United States, Canada,
France, Argentina, Australia, Italy, Germany, Lebanon,
Syria, England, Cyprus, Greece, Javakhq, Artsakh, and
various regions of Armenia.

At the same time, the nine-member ARS Central Ex-
ecutive Board (CEB) held a full Board meeting, focus-
ing particularly on its programs within Armenia,
Artsakh, and Javakhk. The ARS CEB and ARS mem-
bers and supporters were also present at the Sept. 18-
20 Third Armenia-Diaspora Conference sponsored by
the Republic of Armenia’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs
where CEB Chairwoman Hasmig Derderian pre-
sented the ARS’s message to the hundreds of attending
representatives and observers.

The ARS Armenia 15" anniversary commemorative
activities were organized by the ARS Armenia Re-
gional Executive Board. A description of the high-
lights of the two-week ARS celebration follows.

Tour of Historical Sites and Events
Members of the ARS 15" anniversary celebration
tour were treated to visits around Armenia, giving the



Cpowmuppnyyp” <wywupwih Nuapdwluh
Juypkp nt Suupnrly 2bvinuplikp

<wywuypuih <OU-h 15-wdtwhh pobwljwl wynjyp-
Otipnm dwubwyhgbtipp wnhpp mbtgub wyghitim <w-
Juupubh phuwpdwb yuyptipp. hhwiwh wnhp vp G-
nui bwti wpweh @ wiquid <wjwuyuil wyghinnibpm o
npnlp phuwd nt qunuithwp dp juqitightt tpyph gb-
ntgyniptwd dwuht: <LOU-h wyu opgwwyypnypitipn hw-
dwnpmuwd tho Gptiwbh Ulaniw G-nip pbbpmptiwb
ynnut:

Mpnppbtpp uuwb ubupp. 15-h° Gowpnip, Uouk
Uwynhyh gliptiquwtthtt n1 Gpipnith wygbpnipbwdp tio
Eptiwb oppwquymptiwdp: Utuy, 17-h wnuwinptiwd,
upouwnohlittipp wygtijtightt Eevhwdth Uuyp Swlwnn
ta Jwilpp, hul Yruopt tpp’ Uwipypupuwgup’ hp puibiqu-
nwiny: Opp Ytppwgut hwbipwdwbore htinhtwy, WUg-
quyht dnnnyh Muwgpqudunnn tie <wjwuguith <OU-h
Cpowtiuyyhtt Jupsmptiwd wptibww tpnihh, Yqupn
Ntuppnutiwbh «Gu Up Own G Oppulip» punpnbip-
gniptiup’ pitwnpnuud Uniiinnijbwh winuwb pugb-
pwupwhhb dte: Utiupp. 18-ht wyghymphibotipn Qunthh
£. nupnb Junnigniwd htipwbnuuljub puswpht b
Qtnunnh wupdwub yubpht, npdk tpp, funidpp wy-
ghtig wtin <OU-h hnwluwinpwd tiptip, tpjutind tipk-
huwbitinnt jugniy, pupngotip:

Utiyp 20-htr, KOU-h funudpp wyghitig Woqpupuly,
Uninbh, Uundnuwyubp b Qdptipn, hhwgndng nhnt-
N1 winbg htunwbn Swpypupuwtpm phibp: Uk 24-
27, junuipk vwu up wyghitig Upgwpuh piuwnpdwb Juy-
ntipp i KOU-h «Uouk» dwbjuuyupptqitipp: Wpguw-
huhb jugnpntg inoptiwy wygtiniphil tp Quitwup mp
wygbnibtipp wenhpp nuitigub ptubtine opewdth ttipu
<0U-h gnpdnittnipbwh wpnhibpbtipp puughwpuysw-
Jub, wnnnowwyuwhwu, t pbytpwyht dwpqbpk dbpu:
fonudpp bwtn bepjuy nun Quinwihuph tnp Ephypuuwp-
nuiwl winuipht pugdwb wpupnnmphibbbpnib:

OU-h «Uop-ni-Uwbljmh» Unnnowlmb ki
ohhnupbpwlmh Gbhnpnih np CAT-Scan
uwwmppunpnih wwspolulpuh pumgwi
wpmpnynijphihp

Uty 16-ht, LOU-h funudpp wyghitig <OU-h Whunip-
tiwmbh «Uop-ni-Uwbub» Wnnnowjub ti Shlnuptipw-
Qub Uhlnpnt, htgybu wtit @hidphp<OU-h Thiyny Wn-
putwb nunpngp: Gtinp. Jupsniptiwb winudbtpp nu-
nup wehb hpkbg dnnnykl wyglbpm hwdwp Gphpupwp-
dth Jiwumuwd wyn oppwth quimqub punudwutipp:

funudphtt wnweht juiqunp <OU-h Uhyn) Unpwitiwb
QYwypngl bn, nip b nhiunpmibgul - G- <wbinuybiine-
pPhwl 15pn Swptinupap bpnn - updhp, Juwnyy G
Ownbywgnyt punwpwpptip pplwd wywtpbtinne
Unnuk: duypnght ypbopkin, lvwinud MuuwyhYytiwb, puph

first-time visitor
a superb overall
view of the
country and
keeping the re-
peat visitor inter-
ested and awed.
The tour was or-
ganized by Menna
Tours of Yerevan.

The tour began on Sept. 15 with a visit to Yerablur,
Soseh Mairik’s tomb, Yerebuni, and a driving tour of
Yerevan. On Sept. 17, tourists visited Ejmiatzin cathe-
dral and monastery in the morning and Sardarabad
and its museum in the afternoon. The day concluded
at the Sundukian Theater with the performance of
“Yes mi Tzar em Tzirani,” by former ARS CEB mem-
ber and ARS Armenian Regional Executive Chairper-
son Alvard Petrosyan. Garni’s 2nd century pagan
temple and Geghard’s ancient monastery were on the
agenda for Sept. 18, along with visits to three schools
sponsored by the ARS for children with developmen-
tal disabilities.

On Sept. 20, the ARS tour group visited Ashtarak,
Mughni, Saghmosavang, and Amberd, marveling at
the ancient architecture. From Sept. 24-27, tourists
were able to visit Artsakh, taking in the ancient histori-
cal sites and visiting ARS-sponsored ‘Soseh’ kindergar-
tens in the various villages throughout the country. The
Artsakh trip was follow-ed by a two-day visit to
Javakhq, where the ARS group was able to see the
fruits of the Society’s labors in bringing educational,
medical, and social stability to Javakhq’s population in
the form of a clinic, offices, and educational facilities.
ARS members were also present for a ribbon-cutting
ceremony held on Sept. 25 upon the opening of a
long-awaited youth center in Javakhg.

Ribbon Cutting Ceremony Unveils New
CAT Scan Machine at at ARS Mother and
Child Clinic and Birthing Center

On September 16, the ARS group visited the ARS
Mother and Child Clinic and Birthing Center, as well
as the ARS Nicol Aghbalian School, both in Gyumri.
ARS CEB members recessed their meeting to visit the
former earthquake-stricken area with the group.

The ARS Nigol Aghbalian School was the first stop,
where tour buses were waved in by students holding
bright red, blue and orange papers in the spirit of the
coming Sept. 21 15™ anniversary Independence Day
celebrations. School Principal Khanum Babigian
greeted the visitors and directed students in singing



quniuy vwnphg wyghmbtipnid, te hpunhptg ww-
Yupypbtpp Jupuptym hptitg, hhiptipnd b wwgph,
upuppuiugud tpgbpt m wpyuuwitm phiabtpp: LOU-h
Gtinpniwub Jupsmpbub winuy, Cwpk NMuudwstwb
thnjuwbighg Gtinp. Jupsmptiwd juiugny dwnpubpdb-
nn gnybny nuumghsoitpt m 300 wpwtppbtpp h ypbu
hptiig gniguptipwd tnihpnidht ne wju puuphwpulsw-
Jub hwupupnipbiwd uypupuwd junwenhinipbiwb:
Wunp jugnpntig KOU-h «Uop-ni-Uwbijub» Wnnnent-
ptwb m Shlnuptpuud YWenpnd wyghniphiop, nip
hunudpp wnhpen mbtgur ptubtine 2005-h wyppy
wduntl pugniwd Uuwypwiingn: Upnhwjw
uwppwinpnuiny wju dwubwpwdbhh pdauu
widtwuqup wpnkt huly
Jugnn Ytipuny hpuljubiu-
gnigwd £ unbih putb 1 500
dtbnupbpmpm
2wpnibwyt hp wgquipt
wptuwyubipp: Wpdt jhoti
wupuquh dudwbwyth
wnwy 0twd, uky phio
Uhwyt Yonnn Epkfuwh upd
np wiabwjuquihb pbwd-
phliypuly, wpntd huy 2,5
phrogpw Yp Ypntp duwy-
nuingth dtlowd opn:
Wgbniptiwb witiugh-
sunpuuljtith dwub Ep CAT-
scan-h inp uwppuwinpiw
ti ytipgbipu ytpwiinpng-
1wd uphbipwqbinptub
dwubwpwdth ywowypobhw-

Chairperson Hasmig Derderian and
Dr. Samson O.Z. Ararat shake hands

and recitations for the crowd. ARS, Inc. CEB member
Shakeh Basmajian offered greetings from the CEB
and praised the schoolteachers and the 300 students
for their dedication to learning and educational im-
provement.

The next stop was the nearby ARS Mother and Child
Clinic and Birthing Center, where the group toured the
maternity ward that opened in April 2005. The state-
of-the-art facility has now overseen the births of nearly
1,500 babies, including one premature week-old infant
in an incubator who was born at 1 kilo and needed to
gain a normal weight of 2.5 kilos before going home.

A highlight of the visit was a red ribbon-cutting cer-
emony to unveil a new
CAT scan machine and
newly renovated clinic
space dedicated to scan-
ning and mammography.
The CAT scan machine
was donated by the
French S.O.S. and at-
ranged by Dr. Samson
O.Z. Ararat of France.
The machine is the only
CAT scan machine out-
side of Yerevan and will
serve the entire northern
region of Armenia, reach-
ing into Javakhq. There
are only six such machines
in Yerevan, a 120 kilome-
ters drive from Gyumri.

Jub pugnudp: Uwppuin-
nnuip Gnukpd Ep $pubuwljub S.0.S. hhdbwpyht' 2bnp-
hht ppwtiuwhwy nlyp. Uudund O. Q. WUpwipwph gwib-
ptinnG: Uwppuinpnudp, Gptivwbkh nmpu, dhwyo k£ te
whyph dwnwyk <wjwuypubh hhwhuwh opgwbht’ hwu-
Otiny dhbgtin Quuuwup: Wyu ipivwyh dhwyt Jhg vbipb-
Owbtp Jub Gptivwd. 120 phiodknp htinnm Qhudpht:

Luy Wnnnomptiwb Galnppnih gnpdwnhp qphionta,
Any. Uil Grwgbiwh’ wyu nikpp Guipbigh whgh
nunatlk oun wikith Uhd phiny hhnwbntipne pnidnudp
whiph pwpdpwglt pgwih pdajuljub fubwdph npuiyp:
Wu tnthpunpum ptiudp, <OUh wiju hwipognuy nup-
Uwbunpnitip whph plnwpéawyt hp fuiwdph dhpp' dhw-
dudwbwl wwhtny hp bbpuy pogptuwud dunpskh
wuwydwbbbpp:

<OU-h Ytinp. Jupsm ptiwbd Wpbhwwty, poyh. 8.Skp-
ibptiwd tie . Tpwpuwp dhwuhd Yuyupigh pugnidh
Junuihp duwunkin 2bnphwinpbing ghpwp webnuud
wju -- <OU-h hwywuputti@ wphuwpubpitipnil hw-
dwp - bywbwluhg i ogypupw pwiytht hwdwp:
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“This gift will increase
the flow of patients and the quality of care in the re-
gion,” said ARS Clinic Executive Director Dr. Sevag
Avagian. The donation will allow the ARS clinic to ex-
pand its medical services and reach more patients in a
cost-effective manner. ARS CEB Chairperson Hasmig
Derderian and Dr. Ararat shared in the ribbon-cutting
duties and happily shook hands to commemorate a
new step in ARS-provided health care in Gyumri and
beyond.

The CAT scan machine joins another new addition
to the ARS clinic’s services: an ambulance. Complete
with the ARS’s logo, the new ambulance provides a
unique and much-needed service to the inhabitants of
the former earthquake region in an area which is sec-
ond in population only to Yerevan.

The day ended with a mandatory meeting between
the ARS CEB and executive board representatives
from 15 ARS entities, where information and ideas
were exchanged in a spirit of cooperation. A question




CATscan-h dtiptiiwught ypuy unbjgun w) 0ty dhengu-
pnid <OU-h pwbwlyp Ypnn bnp hppwbinuyup hophw-
ownd up (ambulance): Wyu hhtwbnuypupp dkdwwtu
whwph nhipuglt tphpupwpdtt pnidwd opgwth phwly-
sniptiwd - np Gpitwbkh typp wdkilwdtd phip Yp bbtip-
Juywgtlk -- wnwig juwwnniih nupdwbwnni thn-
fuwnpmptwd Yuphpp:

Onniwy Ytpgunnpniptiwb, phinh nuitigun dnnny dnp
<0U-h Gtinn. Jupsniptwb tit LOU-h dhunpbtipne
Jupsniphiwhg ttipjuyugnighstinnt
dwubwlgmptiwdp: Stntyniphibbtnne tio
qunuthwnitinnt thnfjuwbwyniphdk tpp, dnnnyp
gpniigun Shwubwjub m hwdwnpnuwd wyppwudiph
Udptninpph dke: Gptynt Ytippwgun <OU-h
Lwjwuypuidh uquht Ynndt juqiwtpyniwd
wuwoypotwuh pinnibtyniphib-tintynyeny dn

<OU-p vdwuhwmlygnipphiap <wypkipp-
Uippunp Q-. lonphpwnudnynyfhi

<0U-h Gtinn. Jupsniphiip, <OU-h quiuqub dhw-
inpbtipm poytpnithhttipn Jwubwgm ptwdp, Ghpluy
tinui, << Wpypupht gnpdng bwuwpwpht nnenjih fuou-
pny pugniwd, <wjwuyub-Uthhinp Q. funphpnwdnnn-
yhb: Gptivwbh «Gunpkt SEdhpdtwb» Yanpnuhd gty hw-
twpniwd Eh wphuwphh qubuqub pppwbtpth Glud
wupgquiunpbbin:

Lunupuljub, hwuwpuwljuwlui, nt ng-Junwjupuljub
Jququiwytpyniphibbtinnt bhpljuywgnighstinn hpw-
Lthpniwd thn hpttlg ptintipp gpuntine inp utinutth
onipg tit hptiig puwgudwd fuouptinp putiint opwwpgh
nnunpwewd hwupgtipnnt wnbsniptiwdp: W hwpgbpnia
wdbilwuntiinpbtptd Ep Gpypht ghiugingptivwut
opowhbitinnt Ytpuwludqiniil m wppunidwgnidp qujhp
yuphbtipm phpwgpht’ Gphitwbh wpawhugpud
Junwenhuniphiin upbiw pupwodtine hwdwp Gpyph
wudpnng qpupwodphb:

Apuubioptd pbunwd hp fuouptipni dky, KOU-h
Ytinn, Jupsnipliwb wptbuy b, ptiyh. wudhy Stp-
nkptiwh Gptig Uhniptwb wju nunpnniptiudp yipgnigud
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and answer period followed between the CEB and

the regional and chapter representatives. The evening
concluded with a reception for members hosted by

the ARS Armenia Regional Executive.

The ARS at the Third Armenia-Diaspora
Conference

The ARS CEB and ARS members from various enti-
ties attended the opening ceremonies of the Republic
of Armenia Ministry of Foreign Affair’s Third Arme-
nia-Diaspora Conference. The conference was at-
tended by hundreds of delegates and observers from
around the world and held at the Karen Demirchian
Sports-Concert Center, Yerevan.

Prominent political parties and non-profit organiza-
tions were invited to sit at the round table and offer
remarks in the spirit of the conference topic at hand
which focused on revitalizing Armenia’s rural areas in
the coming years to begin a spread of prosperity and
stability outside of central Yerevan.

In her well-received remarks, ARS CEB Chair-
woman Hasmig Derderian emphasized the ARS’s plan
to contribute to rural revitalization by replicating its
premiere Artsakh Sosseh Kindergarten program and
bringing it to Armenia. Derderian also noted that ARS
entities and members will contribute to the organized
Armenia rural revitalization effort through its partici-
pation in community projects around the world. (See
elsewhere in this publication for Derderian’s full remarks).

Dilijan as seen from the Camp

Visit to ARS Armenia’s New Dilijan Camp
The ARS group stopped to enjoy Lake Sevan and her
ancient monasteries on the way to see the ARS



Jubabwnniphbbtnn Upguwuh «Uouk» dwlijuuuip-
nkqutipnt gutigp upudtipnt twti <wjuugputh
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gtiig utipawuy yubpbpp: “hihpwbp dwbsgnuwd £ np-
whku hwbguiptiwh wpdwynipnh yptin, nip b Yp gupoineh
<0U-h bnp gwipwpp:

Uhb tipyne oEoptipnit ytipwbnpngiwb n juhwinp-
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twb bhpwpwbbbtpk, Swywupwht, unhwbingk 1 dnnnyw-
upwhbtipt:

Unpngniphibbipnt dwjuutipp hnqugniwd Gb 3nibwu-
ubh hwipuwbpnipbwut Wnypwpht gnpdong bwuw-
pupmptiwh «Hellenic Aid» dwubwpwdbhh Ynndt:
Wywphbwpwbh oLipht tnpngni i bbtipp upubdoud k
Development Cooperation and Solidarity (DCS), jniliw-
Jub ng-Junwjupujub juquuytpynmphiop:

<OU™-h puniipp wygtittig tnjiiyku hihewth 10nn nu-
il upnigmuwd Unmipp Gphgnp Lntuwenphs bitinbghtt
nin, Uhbst opu, wpwpnnnipdbbp pptinh Ynidtbwb:
<wyp Uwunth @mbpnintiwb nhdwinptig funidpp wwb-
nuwi wn nt hwgny i Ghintguud fups wpwpnnni-
ptwdp up ninnibbtg funtdpp Unipp Qupnnmuwdwdhb thyb-
ntighht uke: “hihowth punupwwtipp, Undkh Uwing-
nnutiw, tnjiyku hhipwuhpbig funudpp B bjupugptig
“thihpwbh jupniy phuwpdwb Juyptipp:

Onp Ytppwgun 6nfu wpwutinuiing vp’ wugppuu-
niwd Hhihpwtth <OU-h dwubwhinht Ynndk, npnih
wnbiwytiypp, Eqiw Qupquptiwb, puph quijniug dwn-
ptg hhiptipnih

«<OU-p h uwmpmu <uynippbwmic ni
<uyphbhphh»

Bhownpuytiint hwdwp <OU-h 15 quuphbtipnt gpub-
gnuwd bpuymphiip <wyptbhptt tbpu, Yenpniwlwb
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ptiwyny:Wyu dhongwnnidp pptinh nbtigue ubugy. 22-
h@" Gptitwbh Hotel Marriott Armenia-h ukg:

Gtinn. Jupsniptiwh bwpuyht winud, wydd << Wqqu-
Jht dnnnyh winwy ti <wywuyputh <KOU-h wpbkbw-
wti, piyh. WJwpn Mtappnutiud juypwnbg unphpnw-
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Armenia’s new camp in Dilijan. Dilijan is known for its

restful atmosphere and crystal clean air.

ARS Armenia is planning for the camp to be used by
ARS, youth, and other groups in the coming months as
renovations on the camp’s two buildings are com-
pleted. The two buildings include sleeping rooms, a
cafeteria, kitchen, and meeting rooms.

The project was financed by the Republic of
Greece’s Hellenic Aid Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Re-
construction of the sanatorium building was financed
by the Greek non-governmental organization, Devel-
opment Cooperation & Solidarity (DCS).

The ARS group also visited the 10" century St.
Grigor Lusavorich Church in Dilijan, which is still ac-
tive. Father Sasun Zunrughian invited the group to
partake of the traditional offering of bread dipped in
salt and proceeded to conduct a short religious cer-
emony in the St. Astvatzatzin Church. Dilijan Mayor
Armen Santrossian also welcomed the ARS group and
described some of the many highpoints of Dilijan.

The day concluded with a lavish lunch offered by the
ARS Dilijan Chapter, whose Chairperson, Esma
Zargarian, welcomed guests to break bread with her
chaptet’s members.

“The ARS in the Service of Armenians
and Armenia”

To commemorate the 15™ anniversary of the ARS’s
official presence in Armenia, the ARS CEB organized
a day long conference, “The ARS in the Service of Ar-
menians and Armenia.” The event was held on Sept.
22 at the Hotel Marriott Armenia, Yerevan.

The conference opened with remarks by ARS Arme-
nia Regional Executive Chairwoman Alvard Petrosian,
who is a former ARS CEB member and a member
of the Armenian National Assembly.

Petrosian welcomed prominent guests who attended
the conference and invited ARS CEB Chairwoman
Hasmig Derderian to give the conference address.
Welcoming remarks were offered by Vice-Speaker of
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the Armenian National Assembly, Vahan Hovhannisian
and UN Children’s Fund Director, Rights of the
Child, Children of Special Needs Program Nayira
Avetisian. Armenian National Assembly member and
Chairman on the Standing Committee on Foreign Re-
lations Armen Rustamian spoke on “The World at
Large and the ARS as a Pan-Armenian Organization.’
Vehanoush Margarian, Director of the ARS, Inc.
Yerevan Central Office and Sponsor a Child program
and ARS Inc.’s Coordinator of Special Programs in
Armenia, Anna Mnatsakanian, presented “ARS
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Achievements in Armenia.” Director of ARS Inc.

Health Programs in Armenia, Dr. Sevak Avagian, dis-
cussed “ARS Health Programs.”

The presentations were followed by lunch and a
panel discussion on “ARS Yesterday, Today and To-
morrow.” ARS CEB secretary Mayda Melkonian in-
troduced the panel topic and the importance of hav-
ing a realistic and open discussion on the issues. ARS
CEB member Tamar Der-Bedrossian introduced the
panelists and moderated the subsequent discussion.
Former ARS CEB Chairwoman Vanouhi Issadjanian
spoke on “The ARS Yesterday;” Nanor Hreshdakian
of the ARS Syria region spoke on “The ARS Today;”
and Lilit Hovhanisian of the ARS Armenia region and
Nyree Derderian of the ARS Western USA region
spoke on “The ARS Tomorrow.”

Issadjanian described the ARS’s role in the history of
Armenia and the Armenian people from its establish-
ment in 1910. “It’s impossi-ble to understand the
present or future without knowing the past,” she
noted.

Hreshdakian added, “There are organizations that
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Ungh. Anna Mnatsakanian
Coordinator of Special ARS Programs in Armenia

have existed for a short time and organizations that are
founded and thrive in the community that last.” Re-
flecting on the Third Armenia-Diaspora Conference
held earlier in the week, Hreshdakian observed, “The
ARS is an excellent example of an organization that
works together in the Diaspora and in the Homeland.”

Hovhanisyan focused on the important ARS work
that young people are fueling in Armenia today, in-
cluding issues focused on the human trafficking of
women and children. Derderian introduced bold ideas
for shaking up the ARS, including one set of uniform
by-laws throughout the ARS’s and consideration of an
elected, but paid, chief executive officer, similar to an
organizational structure used by some non-profit orga-
nizations in the
West.

The panel discus-
sion was lively, as
was the question
and answer discus-
sion that followed.
Conference attend-
ees discussed inter-
action among the
generations, the
process of imple-
menting new ideas
to attract new
members, and the
roadblocks mem-
bers some-times
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encounter when
they propose bold, but untested methods to the Soci-
ety. The conference was inspired by the testimonials of
young ARS leaders in Armenia. The conference ended
with the presentation of gifts from the ARS CEB to
the four panelists.

15" Anniversary Events Hosted by
ARS Armenia

The ARS Armenia Regional Executive hosted a 15
anniversary gala dinner on Sept. 22 and 15" anniver-
sary concert on Sept. 23. The events were attended by
political dignitaries and guests.

The gala dinner was held at Bellagio Restaurant and
was an evening filled with food, music, and dancing. A
raffle was held to benefit the ARS Armenia and the
night concluded with the singing of patriotic songs.

The concert was held at Sundukian Theater and was
hosted by ARS Armenia Regional Executive Chair-
woman Alvard Petrosian. Present were Armenia’s First
Lady, Dr. Bella Kocharian and Baroness Caroline Cox.
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Congratulatory remarks were offered by ARI Bu-
reau Chairman, Hrand Margarian, Armenian Na-
tional Assembly President, Tigran Torosian, Armenia
Fund Executive Director, Naira Melcumian, ARS
Artsakh Chapter Chairperson, Nelly Choulian, ARS
Javakhk Chapter Chairwoman, Garineh Tatevosian,
and ARS CEB Chairperson, Hasmig Derderian.

A powerful film was shown of the ARS Armenia’s
tumultuous first15 years, documenting the Society’s ac-
tive role in providing aid to the 1988 earthquake vic-
tims, giving medical care to those who were wounded
or fell in the battle for Artsakh, donating resources for
the building of medical and educational facilities, and
supporting social and educational programs for the
betterment of Armenia’s men, women and children.

A musical program followed, combining the joy of
the ARS Armenia’s 15" anniversary with the joy of the
Republic of Armenia’s same 15-year milestone. Singer
Shushan Petrosian and Aved Parseghian introduced the
entertainers who included Petrosian herself, as well as
Mikael Boghosian, Armen Movsisian, Layla Saribekian,
Hasmig Karapetian, David Amalian, and Aida
Sarksyan and dance group “Agoonk.” It was an emo-
tional and inspiring night of remembrance for the
ARS’s past contributions to the Republic’s first years
and a night of hope for all that the ARS plans to bring
for Armenia’s future. 99

The Armenian Releif Society is the oldest continuing women’s
organization in the world. 1earn more about the ARS or how
to matke a donation to help the Society continue its important
work by visiting www.ars1910.0rg, calling (617) 926-5892 or
emailing publications@ars1910.org.



The Education of Ashot

By KNARIK O. MENESHIAN

es, he was here, Raffi was here in Shvanidzor
-1 in 1881,” said Ashot as we climbed up the

foothill; up the steep, narrow, winding path
leading to a row of crumbled and crumbling flat-
roofed stone houses turning to piles of stone. “And
when he came,” continued Ashot, “Raffi said, “You
must build a school in this village!” and the villagers
did.”

“This is where I was

born, and this is where

Bek Country! This was Zangezur! This was Siuniayts
Ashkharh! This was where for centuries heroes lived,
fought and died defending home, hearth and land, and
where they still live today—and the relentless invaders
now are unemployment and poverty.

We finally reached the rocky slope, the place where
crumbled and crumbling stone houses were once
home to many. Ashot’s home, abandoned years ago
for a better life in
Yetevan, still stood but

I received my elemen-
tary education!” said
Ashot proudly, his
green eyes sparkling as
he raised his arms to
the sky. “And it was in
these mountains —
during Lenin’s time,
while walking alone one
day with my father,
who was a religious
man — where I learned
from him what to say,
what not to say... and
warning me not to go

Meghri school children

was on the verge of
collapse, while all that
remained of the house
next to his was the fonzr
(a bell-shaped clay oven
placed in the ground)
and a partially standing
wall. That house had
been his relative, Suren
Hacobjani
Hovhannesian’s (my fa-
ther) childhood home.
I touched the wall,
walked over to where
the #onir room had

to church because I was
a Gomsomol, a young Communist. I was just nine years
old.”

“Ashot, what does Shvanidzor mean?” I asked this
tall, gentle-voiced man of the mountains.

“The word, according to the locals,” he began, “ac-
tually has two meanings. The first is, ‘weeping valley’
because of all the blood that was shed protecting our
land from both Turkish and Persian invaders. The sec-
ond is, ‘sweet valley’ because the sun is so intense here
in the southern part of Armenia, it makes our fruits
extra sweet.”

As I listened to Ashot speak with such fervor in his
voice, such passion in his eyes about this rugged,
jagged land of his ancestors—Weeping Valley, Sweet
Valley—I looked long and hard at the terrain before
me, so mountainous, rocky, and dry, yet lush in the dis-
tance where the river Arax flowed. So, this was Davit

16

been, and thought: My
father was born here, seven children and their mother
and father had lived here—here, where once a one-
room house with a hearth, a fonzr room, and a balcony
overlooking the dirt road below had stood. This was
where he was orphaned at nine, finished the village
school, a grades-one-to-four elementary school, and
left in 1917 to live with his uncle in Yerevan where, still
a child, he worked in a shop and continued his educa-
tion, eventually earning his teaching degree in 1930
trom the Mankavarzhakan Technikum, by attending its
evening classes.

Children began first grade at age seven, sometimes
cight, and while some villages had schools up to grade
four, others had schools up to grade seven. Today,
villages such as Shvanidzor offer a higher level of edu-
cation; its teachers have university degrees; and a num-
ber of the students go on to study at universities and



institutes. In schools, first graders learned the alphabet,
the numbers, adding, subtracting, and multiplication.
By the second half of the school year they began read-
ing lessons.

Traveling by foot from one’s village to a nearby one,
or moving to a town or city in pursuit of a better or
higher education was not uncommon as far back as
the 1840s, when the revival of Armenian learning and
literature had already begun. In the case of students
who wished to continue their education, and whose
families were able to arrange such a move, the student
would be placed with relatives or friends while attend-
ing school, or enrolled in a boarding school. Such ar-
rangements were also the practice in Armenian regions
in the Ottoman Empire.

“Ashot,” I asked, “Are there any churches in this vil-
lage?” I had not seen any domes.

“Look over there, on that hill beyond the trees,” he
replied as he pointed to
one of Shvanidzor’s three

The educational institutions associated with the mon-
asteries of Tatev, Gladzor, and Sanahin (all three in
Eastern Armenia) were considered universities; while
the monasteries of Haghbat (in Eastern Armenia),
Narekavanq and Varagavanq (both in the Van Prov-
ince) were considered schools. These monastic centers
of learning played a major role in preparing teachers.
In addition to the courses mentioned, students also
studied architecture, astronomy, geometry, calligraphy,
history, music, mathematics, painting, and other disci-
plines. Among the teachers who lectured at these cen-
ters were Anania Shirakatsi and Grigor Tatevatsi.

As Ashot and I began making our way down the
slope, 1 asked, “How did the women and children
carry water from the nearby chaberiz (centuries-old,
man-made underground canal which provides potable
water) all the way up here, every day, all year long?r”

“Stone steps used to line this path,” Ashot said,
“making the climb up
and down much easier,

churches nestled in be-
tween a cluster of houses.
The small 17" century
church with a slanted roof
had no dome. It was the
style in this village of 112
households (as of 2004).
Not far from the village,
there was yet another style
church. Built in the 10®
century of small stones
and mud, the square-
shaped church, with two

“The 19" century — a crucial
period in the history of the
Armenians — marked the revival
of education and the creation
of schools and learning centers
for all the people, not just the select
few. This period of enlightenment
was met with zeal, idealism,
and a sense of renewal.”

but time and the ele-
ments have caused them
to crumble and the steps
to be swept away just
like the houses. You see,
because arable land is
scarce in this area, we
have always had to build
our homes up high on
the hills in order to culti-
vate the land below for
food, for our livelihood.
In addition, the vantage

small slits for windows,

point and the secret pas-

was built partially under-

ground and had a flat roof. This place of worship
was not easily noticeable in the rocky terrain where liz-
ards and scorpions scurried about, where Turkish vil-
lages had been built (prior to and during Soviet times)
between the existing Armenian ones. As I thought
about the various churches and ancient monasteries |
had seen throughout Armenia, I began thinking about
the important roles they — as well as the pagan
temples during the pre-Christian era — played in the
history of our people, such as in eatly education. Dur-
ing medieval times, 10" to 14™ centuries, courses such
as medicine, the natural sciences, and philosophy were
taught at such monasteries as Tatev (in the Zangezur
region), Gladzor, Haghbat and Sanahin; at Aghtamar,
Ani, Sis, and Yerznka, where education at the time was
dominated by Christian doctrine. Many who attended
these learning centers were laymen.
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sages between the houses
served us well during times of danger.”

As I looked up at the rocky slope one last time, I
thought: Besides the teachers in the pagan temples, the
monasteties, and the schools, the rugged terrain, turbu-
lent history, and harsh life of the Armenian people
were by far the most demanding and exacting of
teachers.

Walking again on flat land free from rolling pebbles
and stones and thorny weeds, we were greeted on the
side of the road by a sleepy cow, lazily waving her tail
in the air, and chickens clucking and pecking in the dirt.
“Barev dzez,” (Greetings to you) we said to a group of
old and young men sitting in the shade smoking and
talking, and to some old women sitting on a log, star-
ing into the dusty distance. Somberly, they greeted us
too, and we continued on our way. Nearby, a young
girl about ten or twelve years old sat on a tree stump



reading a book. She reminded me of another girl,
who was about her age in 1991, studying in her frigid
kitchen in Yerevan during Armenia’s bleak days when
the country was still traumatized by the physical and
emotional damages caused by the 1988 earthquake,
and the political and economic upheaval and uncer-
tainty that prevailed. I remembered 1991 and my stu-
dents in the little blue school house in Jrashen, a village
next to Spitak, and how eager they were to learn de-
spite the lack of food, water, heat, and electricity. Our
English classes would often be held in a closet where a
broken sink, a broom, and a mop were kept. For the
entire class period, the lesson would be conducted
standing shoulder to

he came across a young teenage girl sitting near a
spring. Raffi asked her, ‘Do you know how to read?’

“The girl responded, ‘I am not a Tiratsu (one study-
ing for the priesthood) or a priest that I need to learn
or know how to read.’

“Raffi felt strongly that women needed to be edu-
cated for the enlightenment of the nation, and as he
pondered the young girl’s response, he thought to him-
self: Poor girl, I will remove the confusion from your
innocent mind. Reading is more important for you
than for the #ratsn and the priest. You must educate
the new generation, and you must smooth the path for

our bright future! Yes,

shoulder with coats
on. The students,
both the younger ones
and the older ones,
were eager and enthu-
siastic to learn. In the
mud, in the snow, in
shabby clothes and
shoes, with worn-
down pencils and
tflimsy notebooks, and
some in poor health,
they came every day to
learn English, even on
holidays. Whether in

you must learn to read!
It will be then that you
will no longer be a
poor and pitiable crea-
ture, and your children
will live good and
happy lives...”

Soon after Raffi’s re-
turn home to Payajuk,
he and a friend opened
a school to provide the
children of the village
with a modern educa-
tion. Unfortunately,
due to fierce opposition

the villages, towns, cit-
ies, or the capital,

A classroom at Jrashen

from the clergy and the
Prelate, the school was

Yerevan, schools were
open and education
continued despite all adversity.

“See that girl reading over there,” said Ashot pointing
to the girl sitting on the tree stump, “she reminds me
of a scene from one of Raffi’s (born Hacob Melig-
Hacobian, 1835-1888, Persia) writings... He had just
returned home with great excitement and enthusiasm
to Payajuk, a village in the Salmast region of Persia, in
1856 after receiving his education in Tiflis, Georgia,
first at the Garabed Belakhian School (established
18406), a private Armenian prep-school, and then at the
Russian Gymnasium. The prep-school, specialized in
Armenian studies, offered boarding and prepared stu-
dents for the gymnasium (high school.) Learning much
and exposed to new ideas, curricula, and methods of
teaching other than the harsh, overly pedantic, and un-
productive Ter Totik Dbrots (village schools run by
priests) style of teaching, he was filled with a passion-
ate desire to educate and enlighten his fellow Arme-
nians. One day, as he was walking around his village,
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shut down, and his
dream of opening a
girls’ school never materialized. In 1875, Raffi taught
history and Armenian at the Aramian School in Tabriz.
In 1877, he was invited to teach at a boys’ school and
a girls’ school in the town of Verin Agulis in the
Nakhijevan Province of Eastern Armenia. During the
1600s, eight thousand Armenian families lived in
Agulis. They had schools and a library.

Emphasis on education for the Armenians in Persia
came in the 1800s, later than for the Armenians in
Eastern Armenia—Yerevan, Nakhijevan, Zangezur,
and Karabagh—within the Russian Empire, and espe-
cially in Tiflis, as well as the Armenians in the Ottoman
Empire.

The 19" century—a crucial period in the history
of the Armenians—marked the revival of educa-
tion and the creation of schools and learning centers
for all the people, not just the select few. This pe-
riod of enlightenment was met with zeal, idealism,
and a sense of renewal.



Children at dancing school

n 1810, the Armenian community in Astrakhan,
I Russia, opened its first school, the Aghababian

School. Earlier, in 1780, the Armenian commu-
nity in Calcutta, India, had opened a school, and in
1821, they opened the Armenian college, Mardasirakan
Dyemaran (depending on the curriculum, the djesmaran is
a high school or a junior college), which trained nu-
merous teachers and men of letters for forty years. In
the early 1800s, the Murat-Raphaelian School was
opened in Venice by the Mkhitarists. In Moscow, the
Lazarian College was established in 1815. Initially, an
elementary school for poor children, in 1820 it became
a gymnasium, where along with basic subjects, Arabic,
Armenian, French, German, Latin, Persian, Russian
and Turkish were also taught. It was renamed the
Lazarian Institute for Oriental Languages in 1827, and
in the 1830s received the title of Second-Level Educa-
tional Institution. Later, the school was known as the
Moscow Institute for Eastern Studies, and then the In-
stitute for the History of Asian Peoples. Michael
Nalbandian, who graduated from the University of St.
Petersburg, earning the title of professor, was one of
the teachers that taught at Lazarian College. Some of
the school’s well-known graduates were Raphael
Patkanian (Kamar Katiba), Vahan Terian, Leo Tolstoy,
Ivan Turgenev.

In the Russian Empire, freedom was given to ethnic
communities to open their own schools in 1836.
Ejmiatzin was given permission by the Russian gov-
ernment to open one school associated with each ac-
tive church, and one school for each of the six regions
subject to Ejmiatzin. Prior to 1836, though, Armenian
schools had opened in Astrakhan, Nor Nakhijevan
(Rostov-On-Don), and in Kizliar and Mozdok in
southern Russia north of the Caucasus Mountains.

Before 1800, neatly all education for the Armenians
was controlled by the church in order to train clerics
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and to preserve the primacy of Grabar (Classical Ar-
menian). Armenians in the Caucasus had very few, if
any, schools before the Russian annexations. With the
existence of the Aghababian, Gogoyan, and Lazarian
schools in Astrakhan, Nor Nakhijevan, and Moscow,
respectively, and the Zharangavorats Seminary in
Ejmiatzin (opened 1813), and the Nersisian Dyjenaran in
Tiflis, Armenian learning in the Caucasus, or Eastern
Armenia, began to take shape and branch out to the
churches and homes where usually one devoted edu-
cator would teach. By the end of 1830, there were
twenty-one Armenian church schools.

In Tiflis, the Nersisian Djemaran, or School, was es-
tablished in 1824, and had three grades with 80 stu-
dents the first year. By the 1885-86 school year, it had
seven grades with 487 students, and by the end of the
1800s, it had 712 students. The school graduated its
last 25 students in 1924. The following year, it was
converted to a trade school. Some well-known
Nersisian School graduates were Khachatur Abovian,
who later taught in Tiflis (from 1837 to 1843), Derenik
Demirjian, Anastas Mikoyan, and Hovhannes
Tumanian. Besides the Garabed Belakhian School, the
Gayanian and Hovnanian Girls’ Schools in Tiflis were
also opened in the 1800s, as were the Yeghisabetian
Girls” School in Akhltskha, Georgia, and the Mariam-
Ghukasian School in Shushi, Karabagh.

After leaving Tiflis, Khachatur Abovian, (1809-1848,
born in Qanaqer on the outskirts of Yerevan) a pro-
gressive thinker, who had studied in Dorpat, Germany
(now Tartu, Estonia) and read works by Kant,
Rousseau, Goethe, and Schiller, believed that students
should be treated kindly, with respect, and in a pleasant
teaching environment. He also believed strongly in
education for girls. (Mkrtich Khrimian Hairig and
Raffi had similar beliefs and implemented such teach-
ing approaches as well.) Abovian was both teacher
and principal at the Yerevan Regional School from
1843 to 1848. The school was established in 1832
with three grades. Later, pre-gymnasium and gymna-
sium level grades were added. Because of Abovian’s
progressive, nurturing, and encouraging approach to
education, during his second year as principal of the
school, the number of students increased from 90 to
190. The majority of students were Armenian, while
the remainder were a mixture of other ethnic groups,
including Russian and Azeri. Classes were conducted
in Russian, and the major subjects taught were math-
ematics, religion, and Russian Language. In addition to
their regular subjects, the Armenian students also stud-
ied Armenian, and the Azeri students studied Turkish.
In the school’s pre-gymnasium level—grade four—



French, geography, history, and Latin were taught. At
gymnasium level—grades five through eight—Greek
and physics were taught. In 1881, the school became a
gymnasium with 8 grades and two pre-college grades.
The gymnasium offered boarding, and had a library
and workshop. In 1925, the school was renamed
Abovian School.

The Gevorgian Djemaran was founded at Ejmiatzin
in 1874, and dedicated to the training of priests and
teachers. Gradually, it became a college and its religious
character diminished with a strong emphasis on Arme-
nian scholarship. It became a hotbed for political ac-
tivity later in the century. Both the Gayanian School in

Golden Autumn

Yerevan and the Arghutian School in Alexandropol
(later known as Leninakan, and now Gyumri) were
opened in the 1800s.

In the mid 1800s, American and French missionaries
had established schools in the Urmia region in pre-
dominately Assyrian areas. A number of Armenian
students attended these schools where they studied En-
glish and French. In Tabriz, Persia, the Aramian
School opened in the mid 1850s, and so did schools in
New Julfa (Isfahan), where many illuminated manu-
scripts were produced. At the Aramian School, where
Raffi taught from 1875 to 1877, he modernized the
curriculum, introduced new teaching methods, and
was instrumental in secularizing the school, “which ear-
lier was run by ignorant #rafsus.

In the Ottoman Empire, even though minorities
were finally given the right to open their own schools
in 1789, it was by the second half of the 1800s that
Armenian schools — and other schools that Arme-
nians attended — began opening in large numbers. In
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Constantinople and Smyrna, however, a number of
boys” and girls’ schools already existed in the 1840s,
one of them being the Mesrobian College which had
opened in 1825 in Smyrna. In both cities, there were
schools for the training of trade apprentices, and small
church schools where priests taught religion, reading,
and writing to the neighborhood children. In
Constantinople, the Nersesian Vargharan and Skutar
College were well known. By the end of the 1800s,
nearly every Armenian village had at least one school.
In areas with large Protestant and Catholic communi-
ties, those denominations also opened schools. Later,
with the re-establishment of the Ottoman Constitution
of 1908, reading rooms and lecture halls were also es-
tablished in Armenian villages and towns.

In Kharberd, schools were opened, in the 1800s, by
French, German, Italian, and Spanish missionaries, as
well as by the Armenian Evangelical Union and the
Armenian (Catholic) Sisters of the Immaculate Con-
ception. At the missionary schools, boys and girls at-
tended separate classes at the high school and college
levels. In the lower grades, coeducation was practiced.
A theological seminary was founded in 1859, named
Armenia College in 1876, and renamed Euphrates
College in 1888. The Kharberd Central School was
founded in 1887. The writers Hamastegh and
Totovents were students at the school.

In the city of Erzerum, a center where manuscripts
were produced, there were ten community schools,
one of them established in 1811. There was one
Catholic school for boys, established in 1867, run by
the Mkhitarist Order of Venice; one Catholic school
for girls, run by the Armenian Sisters of the Immacu-
late Conception; two schools — one for boys and one
for girls — maintained by the Protestant community.
Hripsimian Girls” School, one of the community
schools, was established in 1875. The Sanasarian
Varzharan was founded in 1881 and served as a
teacher-training center. Although the school was closed
in 1912, it opened later in Sebastia in the same year.
The Kavafian School, a coeducational elementary
school, was established in 1905. Karmir Vang, a mon-
astery near the village of Hintsk, in the province of
Erzerum, was a center of education, which included
an orphanage, hospital, and leprosarium. Some of
Erzerum’s teachers received their education at the Tiflis
and Ejmiatzin schools, where they had been trained as
specialists in the fields of Armenian history, language,
and literature.

In the 1800s, American missionaries, associated with
the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign
Missions, arrived in the province of Sebastia and es-



tablished a number of educational institutions, includ-
ing an elementary and a high school for boys and simi-
lar schools for gitls. In 1886 they established Anatolia
College in Marsovan — where the students and teach-
ers were largely Armenian — a kindergarten, and a
school for the deaf. In the same city, the American
Boarding School for Gitls was renamed Anatolia
Girls” School in 1886. Among the large number of
schools in the city of Sebastia that existed in the 1880s,
there were the Aramian and Seraydarian Boys’ Schools
and the Hrispimian Girls’ School. The Sivas Normal
School for Boys, a secondary level school, was estab-
lished in 1880 and became

Sivas Teacher’s College in

1912. Armenian Catholics

and the other in Russia.

The following day, Ashot and I continued our dis-
cussion on education as we strolled up and down the
bustling streets of Yerevan. Much had changed in the
capital and throughout the country since I first saw it
in 1975, and then several more times in the 1990s, and
during my year’s stay in 2002-03 teaching English in
Gyumri and Tzaghgadzor. But, the enthusiasm for
learning among most of the students had not changed
and remained equally strong whether in the Yerevan
schools, such as the Aghbalian and Pushkin schools 1
visited in 1990, or later in the regions, where I taught

in a remote village school,
a public school, an or-
phanage, a community

and Protestants also estab-
lished schools in Sebastia.
In Van, Mkrtich
Khrimian, reverently
known as Khrimian Hairig
(born 1820-1907 in Van),
established a seminary at
Varag Monastery in the
1850s. It was the first
school in the area that

“Besides the teachers in the pagan
temples, the monasteries, and the
schools, the rugged terrain, turbulent
history, and harsh life of the Arme-
nian people were by far the most de-
manding and exacting of teachers.”

center, and at a camp for
underprivileged children
from throughout Arme-
nia and Javakhq. As in the
past, the rote method of
teaching is still prevalent,
teachers generally sit be-
hind their desks as they
teach, and students rise
when the teacher enters

the classroom.

provided modern teach-
ing methods, including the
absence of corporal pun-
ishment. He trained and
encouraged teachers to create a positive and pleasant
learning atmosphere as well as to treat students com-
passionately, and instill in them patriotism and love for
the homeland. He believed in the education of gitls,
and was against the “Oriental idea that husbands have
a right to rule over their wives by force.” Earlier in the
1840s, a number of boys” and girls’ schools had been
established in the region where a number of scriptoria
existed in monastic centers of learning, The Yeramian
School had opened in Van in the 1800s.

Our visit to Shvanidzor had come to an end, but be-
fore it was time for Ashot and me to get on the bus
back to Yerevan, I asked him if we could stop at the
village cemetery. “So, you want to visit the geereezmodee
dooz,” he said in his melodic Shvanidzor dialect, and 1
nodded, wondering what kinds of stories the head-
stones will tell? Most certainly, history lessons for an-
other day, but for now a quick look would have to do.

The bus back to Yerevan was full. Among the pas-
sengers were two families from Agarak, a neighboring
town. They had locked the doors of their homes per-
manently in pursuit of better lives — one in Yerevan,
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During the 1800s a
number of schools were
opened in the capital: The

Yerevan Regional School, 1832; the Armenian Reli-
gious School, 1837; the Yerevan Boys’ School, 1850;
the Norq Community School, 1860; the Gayanian
Girls’ School, 1866; the Teacher’s Seminary (the semi-
nary was a three-story, black stone, Russian era build-
ing, located on Abovian Street), 1881. Also the Library,
in 1865, and the Printing House in 1874, were opened.
Some of the periodicals on education during this pe-
riod were: Dastiarak, (Educator), published 1873-74,
Crimea; Dprofs (School), published 1874-76,
Vagharshapat; Mankavarzhakan Tert (Pedagogical Jour-
nal), 1882-84, Tiflis; Aghbiur (Source), 1883-1918, Tiflis.
Of significant importance was the first Armenian
Teachers’ Conference that took place in Tiflis in 1882.

“Had your father been alive and walking with us
right now;” said Ashot with excitement in his voice,
“he would have been amazed at the progress that has
been made in this city where he witnessed the birth of
Armenia’s First Republic, in this country where he was
arrested and tortured for his anti-government beliefs
and writings, thus becoming a political prisoner in Si-
berian prisons during Stalin’s reign.”

Just then, I remembered one of my students in



Jrashen in 1991. He was a quiet, studious boy, no
more than ten years old, who one day during our
reading lesson suddenly blurted out, “T7&zn (Mrs.)
Knarik, Lenin papike satkets! (grandpa Lenin croaked!)”
Yes, much had changed in the country.

During the First Republic, the fledgling democratic
state, which maintained its independence for almost 2
Y2 years, was faced with a multitude of trials and
tribulations. Despite them, its government had vision
and a goal to lift the people from its centuries-old web
of oppression and ignorance. Of utmost concern was
the welfare of the people; therefore, social programs
were begun, such as education through the establish-
ment of schools and institutions of higher learning,
health and hygiene, and land distribution to farmers.

Public lecture series were begun in Yerevan and vari-
ous places throughout the country. The Minister of
Education, Nikol Aghbalian, planned to have 1,500
elementary schools in operation by 1921, and to fur-
ther develop schools of higher learning (In 1908,
Yerevan had 31 schools, and 3,724 students, predomi-
nately Armenians.). Funds were allocated for text-
books, adult literacy classes for indigent students, and
children who lost family members in defense of the
homeland. Plans were made for a seven-year military
academy in Kars; a medical school in Yerevan, and
technical schools in Alexandropol and Yerevan. In
1919, Yerevan opened its first hospital, which included
an obstetrics and gynecology department.

Founded in 1919, the State University of Armenia
(later renamed Yerevan State University) was opened
in 1920 in Alexandropol, with plans to expand the uni-
versity and transfer the campus to Yerevan in the fall,
where it would temporarily be housed in the building
of the Teacher’s Seminary on Abovian Street. Alloca-
tions were made for faculty housing and the purchase
of books from abroad. By September, 1920, six hun-
dred thirty two men and women had registered for
the fall term, and a number of internationally re-
nowned Armenian scholars returned to Armenia to
teach at the university.

After units of the Red Army entered Yerevan on
April 2, 1921, life changed drastically for the people in
Armenia. The nation’s hard fought, albeit brief, inde-
pendence would be squelched for decades until its for-
mal return on September 21, 1991.

During the Soviet period, education continued to ex-
cel, and schooling was free, including the university
level. In 1921, twenty-two new schools were opened;
eighteen primary and four secondary. During the
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same year, the medical school reopened, and a music
school was started. In 1922, the Fine Arts School was
opened, and in 1923 the Mankavarzhakan Techniknm.

During the 1930-31 period, a literacy program was
instituted (during the First Republic such a program
had already been initiated and existed in 1919) and
night schools associated with factories were opened,
so that workers could continue their education. In
1930, mandatory primary education (4™ grade) was
initiated. In 1940, the mandatory grade level was
seven, and in 1969 it was eight.

It must be noted that after the 1915 Genocide, Ar-
menian communities in the Middle East opened many
Armenian schools, including secondary level and, in
some communities, post-high school educational insti-
tutions.

In Armenia today, the Education System is as fol-
lows: pre-school or kindergarten; elementary school
(grades 1-3); basic school (grades 4-8); high school
(grades 9-10), and higher education. Primary and sec-
ondary education is free. Higher level education is free
only for a limited number of students who score high
on entrance exams.

“Come,” said Ashot in his impassioned and cheerful
manner, “let us walk a little more!” The statue of
Vartan Mamikonian soon came into view. We stopped
to watch some children at play. Their happy sounds
felt good, like the warmth of the sun on a chilly day.
Suddenly, Ashot grew quiet and withdrawn, and the
glimmer in his eyes was gone. I wondered what had
happened, but dared not ask. In an attempt to get his
mind off whatever was distressing him, I said, “Ashot,
I cannot believe we have walked so farl Nearby is the
kindergarten I visited in 1991. I remember it so well.
It was autumn, and the children were welcoming zoske
ashun, golden autumn, and all its bounty with songs
and dances and recitations.”

Ashot sighed and slowly nodded his head as he con-
tinued watching the children. Then, more to himself
then to me, he said, “Hzmwa haskatsa vor sut er, amen
inchub sut et (Now I understood, that it was a lie, it
was all a liel) Look around you now. Look what has
been accomplished so far under our own flag! It can
only get better for us, including my Weeping Valley,
Sweet Valley. Yes, voske ashun will soon be here. Let its
bounty be reaped by all, and let it be used with wis-
dom, foresight, and benevolence!” 9
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CONTEMPORARY ARMENIAN POETRY
duutuviulyhg LU3 AULUUSEAONMIDRG
POESIE ARMENIENNE CONTEMPORAINE

“CANTIQUE”
(ARTSAKH)

Dans 'immensité du midi, montent les montagnes,
tendant la main aux nuances

des couleurs de sommets,
aux pieds d’un énorme soleil a son zénith,

lentement consumé. ..

Ici, les mots de Machtots sont réels
comme ce seuil de biblique pureté,
et les distantes clartés, impossible a brouiller,
doublement invisibles, comme le réve d’un supplicant,
comme un nuage orageux, opalescent,
pleuvassant des gouttes chaudes d’un désir,
qui — face a face aux sommets — cherche encore
des saints aieux,
13, ou les épaules délicates du marier,
tordues contre une menace meurtriére,

crie — Arménie! Arménie!

ARTEM HAROUTIUNIAN
Traduit par Tatoul Sonentz
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Wuuwd,
hubnpnud G,
p’Og tu wbtn,
tipp winpkp dhoop,
whukp, wmnwbah,
tipp Yhwphn qiwgpp
wbiptin ppwgpny
hwubmu £ wpnth
hp dwljupuigph
ytipgh jubqunht, t nne,
whdwbophl whp
pn upht,
niqnid tu Juingtip
wbgwd optiph pwhky wptitht...

M jtap Gu buygned
Uhqhs Yupoypny
n1 thinponud bu
Ll ukp opiph wbiphd jmobph
Jjnjup  htinwluwy
Junpptiim pbw@
whpupp wsptinnid...

3t tiu huymd
ni - ufj ptiq pw...
hbg np dh atin, piqihg qunubh,
lglil £, upply
wyb hbs np pnbb Ep hbbgne,
wibgbwih wtu
wdnip tie wbebetih,
btipluyhg htinnu
L wwywhny,
wyuqui htiqing £b jniotpp hho
pn whhwu uhpny
uhl tpuqbtinht -

Wuuwd,
hutinpnud G,
p’Gs tu wbbnt...

(3w Unitiig
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MOTHER

The seed of life strewn lavish in markets of

endless cosmos complete twenty-four hours a week
auction sale “free to take” and the mob

rushed in a frenzy and grabbed

whatever it could take home to keep and ran back

to enchanted stores full to the brim

supplies spilled over it grasped again clasped

carried rushed out melded with demented hordes
hitting kicking knocking snatched all it found

rock animal forest sky its appetite is boundless

tears man and God apart and creates life not word
word is not life just a poor pathetic pitiful yet treacherous
black hyphen a breathless voice echo of an amorphous
meaning hardly reaching the moment of creation

it will stand tall in the glow flesh and bone
embodiment of hope sorrow bewilderment and bliss

which is a man.

Sitting alone in a corner she contemplates the facade

that will emerge from the clamor of pillage

thinking “this is my lot” yet aware

by instinct that she is a mere crucible small vessel

of Creativity unreachable unutterable devoid of purpose

to what? To what? “I don’t get it” she will repeat mechanically
until the ocean of her words dries up and their place

comes to fill an ardent unadorned endless love

for her offspring and humanity the furtive magic of life.
VAHE OSHAGAN

May 8, 1999, Hartford

Translated by Tatul Sonentz
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LA FEDERATION EURO-ARMENIENNE

FORME LES FUTURS CADRES DE LA DIASPORA D’EUROPE

La FEDERATION EURO-ARMENIENNE a accueilli cet été
des étudiants de 'Union dans le cadre de sa session
de formation européenne. Lobjectif visé était de
familiariser ces jeunes en cours de second cycle
universitaire avec le milieu politique européen, ses

structures et ses méthodes de travail.

Cette premiere session de trois semaines a vu la
participation de jeunes de Belgique, d’Allemagne et
d’Autriche. Elle leur a permis d’observer le
fonctionnement des structures de I'Union
européenne et d’appréhender I'état actuel des

questions arméniennes au sein de ses institutions.

Le programme de la session 2006 comprenait la
visite des principales institutions de 'Union, des
conférences et des entretiens avec des acteurs
importants sur la Politique de Voisinage avec le
Caucase, la Politique d’Elargissement et notamment
le probléeme de I'adhésion de la Turquie et sur les
questions liées a 'espace, de liberté, de justice et de

sécurité dans I'Union européenne.

LES PARTICIPANTS ont notamment eu la possibilité
de s'entretenir sur la Politique Européenne de
Voisinage avec M. Semneby, 'envoyé spécial de
I'Union européenne pour le Sud Caucase. Ils ont
aussi rencontré M. Filori, en charge des pays
candidats au sein du cabinet d’Olli Rehn, le
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Commissaire a 'Elargissement. Divers universitaires
et représentants d ONG sont également venus
donner des conférences dans les locaux de la

Fédération Euro-Arménienne.

A travers leurs rencontres et leur présence au sein des
institutions, les participants se sont formés aux
méthodes et a 'action quotidienne du bureau
européen de la Fédération. Les étudiants
participants ont enfin préparé des dossiers sur
différents themes de travail de la Fédération.
Laurent Leylekian, le directeur exécutif de la réussite
de cette session de formation et remercie

chaleureusement tous ceux qui y ont contribué.

«Cette expérience 2006 a été un franc succes. Dés
2007, nous reconduirons un programme de
formation similaire, afin de préparer notre jeunesse
al'action politique et afin d’aider les communautés
d’Europe a renforcer la dimension citoyenne de
leurs structures représentatives.» a déclaré le
directeur exécutif de la Fédération Euro-

Arménienne. 9
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MITAS

SOGHOMON SOGHOMONIAN est né le 26 mai, 1860, a
Kutahia, en Arménie Ottomane, orphelin a ’age de
onze ans, d’un pere cordonnier et choriste a église de
son village, et d’une mére composant des chansons.
Cet héritage devait nouer les fils de son destin.

Il est envoyé au séminaire d’Edjmiatzine, siege de
IEpiscopat Arménien, pour y etudier. Comme
I'immense majorité des Arméniens disseminés dans
Pempire Ottoman, il ne parlait que le turc. “C'est pour
apprendre Larménien et le chant que j’ai ét¢ conduit ici” dit-il a
son arrivée: quelques années plus tard, il y sera ordon-
né Vardapet (prétre) sous le nom de Komitas.

Doté d’un timbre vocal exceptionnel, il etudie la
musique a Thilisi, puis la théorie musicale européenne
a Berlin. En 1884, éclatent les premiers massacres
préfiguramt avenir. Prénomitoiremment, Komitas
prendra son baton de pélerin et sillonera tous les
village ou sont réfugiés ses semblables, recueillant sans
relache, jusqu’en 1913, des milliers de chants popu-
laires.

C’est tout naturellement qu’il devient le pionnier de
Pethnomusicologie. Le patrimoine culturel le plus
diffusé et rhythmant la vie quotidienne étant le chant
— chants profanes ou sacrés, memoir d’un people
soumis depuis des siecles aux affres de I’occupation.
Les paysans Arméniens, toujours fidéles a leur foi, ne
pouvant communiquer en public dans leur langue,
avaient transmis de générations en générations leur us
et coutumes ancestrales a ’aide de chansons!

Komitas vint en 1906 a Paris invité par la Société
Internationale de Musique. Communiquant le resultat
de ses recherches “d’anthropologie culturel”, puis une
these sur le role de la “musique dans le contexte
social”, il fit sensation! “Je wincline et me prosterne devant
votre génie” proclame Claude Debussy qui devait
devenir son ami.
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En 1910, Komitas s’installe 2 Constantinople pous
des raisons pratiques. 1914, 'Europe est en guerre e
la Turquie, alliée de I’Allemagne, met au point une
ultime strategie: ne pouvant, depuis des siécles,
asservir et convertir les Arméniens vivant dans
Pempire Ottoman, les autorités decident de les raye
de la surface terrestre. Le 24 avril, 1914, debutent le
exactions, avec en priorité les intellectuels résidant a
Constantinople. Komitas fut I'un des premiers a
connaitre les gedles ottomans. 1l est, grace a sa
notoriété internationals, I'un des seuls a survivre apr
quelques mois d’emprisonnement. Mais dans quel é
Son psychisme était atteint. Il partit pour ’Europe ¢
il vecut quelques temps avant d’étre interné dans un
asile psychiatrique a Paris. Il y mourut le 22 octobre
1935, apres des années de prostration.

KomiTas est la symbolique arrménienne. 1l offrit -
son people un collier, un collier de diamant qu’il
chercha, trouvant toutes les pierres precieuses qui le
composent, enlevant toute la scorie qui s’était incrus
tée pendant des siecles. Il a atteint Poriginel! Telleme
authentique, que tous les Arméniens s’y retrouvent.
Komitas a fait surgir une source contenant 'ame d’t
people. 11 fut le levain ayant fait monter la pate.

Ses melodies d’un monde rural sont graves, sincer
authentique et pudique,a 'image du people. Depui
d’autres artistes sillionnent le monde en s’exprimant
dans la langue et avec les formes de leur terre d’a-
doption. Comme Charles Aznavourian et Alan
Hovhannes. Comme cet orphelin métamorphosé e
Herbert von Karayan, et tant d’autres de part le
monde... Tous ont un dénominateur commun: la
tidélité a leur racine et 'appartenance a une culture
apatride. Sans la revandiquer. Modestement. Na-
turellement.

ARMAND ARTINL



PRELUDE TO POGROM

By ANNA ASTVATZATRIAN TURCOTT

tis a cold afternoon in December, 1988. We atre
I all gathered in Grandma’s apartment in a suburb

of Baku. I have just come home from school —
what used to be an ordinary, daily ritual, until I see my
family huddled in the living room. Outside, the gather-
ing turmoil and rampaging mobs seem to get more
threatening every day.

All five of us, Mama, Papa, Misha, Grandma and I
are sitting in this room, behind locked doors, shuttered
windows, in darkness...

Papa goes to the kitchen and returns with a bunch of
knives and puts the pile on a small table in front of
him, muttering on and on, to no one in particular:

“If they break in, I'll take a few of them with me...”

No one speaks; we whisper when we need to.
Through the cracks in the blinds we see people rushing
down the street carrying green flags. There are black
tlags too, obviously hand-made, hastily emblazoned
with “Death!” and “Vengeance!” A man in a black
coat appears in front of the crowd, facing it and walk-
ing backwards. It is hard to hear what he says, but it
seems as if he is trying to stem the tide of this mob. In
response, the crowd yells louder and picks up speed.
The determined stream pushes him out of the way.
Some of the demonstrators spill into the courtyard of
the apartment building next to ours, known, for gen-
erations, as the ‘Armenian’ building.
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The demonstrators scream and demand that the Ar-
menians be brought out. Enraged at the lack of re-
sponse, they throw rocks at the windows, the noise of
shattered glass mixes with screams and yelled obsceni-
ties. Restless, in search of more accessible victims, they
move on, skipping our building, looking back and
waiving banners and fists at the shuttered windows,
threatening to be back.

No one in the neighborhood is physically hurt that
day, yet, we all brace ourselves for the worst, as ru-
mors spread like wildfire, that the Armenians of
Karabagh have gathered an army and have seceded
from Azerbaijan...

I miss school only on ‘horrible’ days. I walk to school
alone, to the dismay of Mama’s colleagues who accuse
her of being crazy to let me commute on foot, by
myself. Mama, at the time, does not believe there is
any real danger for me, until the day demonstrators
surround my school.

It is during English class, that we hear the discordant
sounds of a mob advancing through a street parallel
to ours. All of us jump to our feet and rush towards
our third floor windows. Our teacher — a close, Azeri
friend of my mother — yells and orders us back to
our seats.

“Don’t you dare go near that window!” she screams.

As we return to our desks, moving very cautiously,



her back hugging the wall, she gets close to the win-
dowpanes. We sit quietly, as she looks out for several
minutes. She returns to her desk and, with a release of
suppressed excitement, we ask her what is happening.

“They seem to be calling for the upperclassmen to
join the demonstrators gathering at Lenin Square,” she
replies. She tries to re-start class when screams, yells
and the sound of shattering glass, coming from the
floor below, drown her voice.

It seems, the teachers of the upperclassmen on the
floor below are having a harder time containing their
classes. They are reluctant to let their students join the
demonstration, while the upperclassmen — mostly
Azeri — insist on joining the protesters and yell obsceni-
ties in frustration. One upperclassman jumps from the
second floor window and runs toward the street be-
yond the brick wall that surrounds the school, as the
headmaster and teachers, yelling at the top of their
voices, entreat him to turn back...

Probably in fear of parental ire, the student back-
tracks and returns to his class. This retreat angers the
demonstrators who expect to have the support of the
students. They are livid at the teachers for standing in
the way, so they start pelting the windows with rocks
and crush all the windowpanes of the first floor and
some of the second floor.

Still furious, the mob storms the high brick wall and
enters the school building. The most aggtressive ele-
ments threaten to beat up all who put up any resis-
tance; after all, this was a Russian school, attended by
most Armenians. A group of burly militants pushes its
way towards the classrooms; it is stopped by teachers
objecting to this forced intrusion. In the ensuing melee,
an elderly physical education teacher is manhandled.
Desperate, intimidated, one of the teachers drops to
her knees and pleads with the mob, begging the en-
raged demonstrators to leave the building. The mili-
tants answer by slapping her face; undaunted, she per-
sists and, as a last resort, the teachers promise to lead
the students to Lenin Square the very next day...

Risking it all, the teachers, dead set against involving
the children in what promises to be a violent demon-
stration of hatred, do not keep their promise (in spite
of the fact, that the Administrator of the school was a
Communist Azeri) and the students are not led to
Lenin Square.

Regardless of all the fuss, numerous students don’t
show up at school during the following weeks, as
demonstrations and mob action flare up on a daily
basis... 9
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MUTED MESSAGE

First snow of the year

life is muffled like the sounds
made by a string ensemble
playing to frozen eardrums

out of sight out of reach to those
stranded in the lone recesses
of a receding lifeline...

Nothing can speak louder

or freeze colder than silence.

no curse emoted or whispered
can cause the pain that silence can
without emitting a word without
being there — where once a song
of a shared passion steamed
the windowpanes of this place
where | now reside alone
dismissed sheltered

yet... homeless...

With the meandering flakes
silence descends like a shroud
on the passion that was my home
for what seemed like eternity
constant and real —at least

from lullaby to taps...

First snow of the year

When desire is muffled like
a murmured prayer to gods
long departed...

Tatul Sonentz

December, 2001
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THE ARS AT THE
UNITED NATIONS

ARS Inc., Participates in
United Nations DPI/NGO Conference

The Armenian Relief Society (ARS) was among 540
registered non-governmental organizations (NGO’s)
and 1,879 representatives attending the 59" Annual
UN DPI/NGO Conference at the United Nations in
New York from Sept. 6-8.

ARS Inc. representatives Valentine Berberian, Harriet
Kazarian, Carol Jaffarian, Lalai Manjikian, Odeh
Kraskian, and Sossi Essajanian attended the conference
which was entitled, “Unfinished Business: Effective
Partnerships for Human Security and Sustainable De-
velopment.” The conference afforded the group the
opportunity to meet with representatives from other
NGOs and present the ARS’s work in Armenia and
abroad.

The ARS representatives attended sessions centering
on the UN’s Millennium Development Goals and how
countries can achieve financial and ecological
sustainability. The ARS representatives divided into
subgroups in order to attend as many competing ses-
sions and workshops as possible.

On Sept. 6, ARS representatives attended a work-
shop entitled, “United Nations Effective Partnerships
with Civil Society” sponsored by the UN’s DPI/
NGO section. Representatives from various UN de-
partments, agencies and programs such as the UNEP,
UNODC, UNU, and ECOSOC, discussed their work
and collaboration with NGOs and civil society, em-
phasizing the practices and strategies to achieve the
Millennium Development Goals and the constructive
engagement between civil society and UN NGOs nec-
essary to promote and implement those goals.

The ARS representatives also attended a workshop,
“Mobilizing Youth About the HIV/AIDS Epidemic:
An Innovative Health Communication Partnership.”
The event presented the International Organization for
Migration-commissioned Art Center College of De-
sign that collaborated on a public awareness campaign.
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The project aimed at empowering affected communi-
ties and NGOs to facilitate behavior change.

On the evening of Sept. 0, the ARS representatives
attended the conference reception hosted by the
NGO/DPI Executive Committee where they net-
worked with other NGO representatives in a more
informal setting. The reception took place on the
fourth floor of the United Nations building with an
imposing view over the Hudson River. A jazz en-
semble set the tone for a relaxing ambiance while del-
egates from all over the world conversed and ex-
changed information related to their respective NGOs.

On Sept. 7, ARS representatives attended a work-
shop entitled, “Forgiveness: Partnering with the En-
emy,” presented by the American Psychological Asso-
ciation. The workshop centered on forgiveness and
reconciliation after violence in such cases as the South
African apartheid, the Rwandan genocide, and the Ar-
menian Genocide. Many speakers gave specific in-
stances of people coming to terms with their aggres-
sors. Panelist Dr. Saths Cooper, a former prisoner of
Robben Island, described his experience going from
victim to advocate.

The ARS representatives also attended a Sept. 7 af-
ternoon roundtable session entitled, “Human Security:
Responsibility to Protect and Peacebuilding Commis-
sion.” In light of the 2005 World Summit that estab-
lished an international responsibility to protect popula-
tions from genocide, war crimes, ethnic cleansing and
crimes against humanity, governments have accepted
that they must act earlier in response to crises in their
own countries. Speakers addressed how partnerships
between civil society and the State must be reinforced
to achieve the set goals. The panelists provided ex-
amples to ensure that the security development goals
are met. The emphasis was on the following three as-
pects linked to human security related to conflict: to



prevent, to react/respond, and to rebuild. The speak-
ers included Juan Mendez, special advisor to the Secre-
tary-General on the Prevention of Genocide, and
Eugenie Mukeshimana, a Rwanda genocide survivor.

“Attending the UN/DPI conference has only rein-
forced my belief that the ARS has an important role
to play on the world stage,” said ARS representative
Lalai Manjikian. “By being an active presence at this
conference and other UN activities, the ARS can en-
sure its involvement and contribution to the humani-
tarian arena internationally.”

The ARS Inc. has been an active NGO at the United
Nations for many years, having achieved been recog-
nized as a non-governmental organization nearly 30
years ago. The ARS, Inc. is a member of UN DPI
and has roster status with the UN Economic and So-

cial Council. The ARS is also actively involved in vari-
ous important UN committees, including UNICEF,
the UN Committee on HIV/AIDS, the UN Commit-
tee on the Status of Women and WANGO.

The 59th Annual DPI/NGO conference addressed a
number of pressing issues related to human security
and sustainable economic development. This year,
once again, the ARS Inc. was represented at the con-
ference, engaging in the important issues faced by civil
society and establishing contacts with other NGOs so
important to advancing the ARS’ voice as an impor-
tant UN NGO participant.

The ARS, Inc. was established in 1910 and is a non-
profit organization with 18,000 members in 24 coun-
tries around the world. For more information visit
www.ars1910.org or call (617) 926-5892.9

The Armenian Relief Society Hosts Panel on
Volunteerism

By ANAHID UGHURLAYAN

On April 20, 20006, the Armenian Relief Society, Inc.
UN/NGO committee hosted a panel discussion en-
titled, “T’he Power of One: Bringing Hope and Change
Through Volunteerism at the United Nations.” The purpose
of the discussion was

niversary of the Commission on the Status of
Women, The Convention on the Elimination of All
Forms of Discrimination against Women
(CEDAW), the implementation of ad hoc war
crimes tribunals in

two-fold — to celebrate
the life and legacy of
ARS, Inc. UN/NGO
representative Penelope
Giragosian, who recently
passed away, and to dis-
cuss the ways in which
NGOs help shape policy
at the UN.

Denise Scotto, attorney
and policy advisor and
Vice-chair, NGO Com-
mittee on Status of
Women, spoke of Ms.
Giragosian’s many con-

The ARS UN/NGO Panelists

Ii‘ Rwanda and Bosnia, and
: e o] the codification of rape
oy T
| u and forced pregnancies
o .
| 2EDIDIR P <Y as war crimes by the In-
y ternational Criminal
Court. Ms. Scotto also

noted that NGOs hold
UN member states ac-
countable and work on
the ground in countries
around the world to en-
sure that pressing social
and economic issues are
addressed, and she
praised members of

tributions to the ARS

and Armenia as well as

her work at the UN on various NGO committees.
She stressed that women and women’s rights have
come a long way at the UN and that NGOs have
been a driving force, citing as examples the 50" An-

NGOs in attendance for
their tireless efforts.

Meg Gardinier, coordinator of Education and
Community Partnerships at the US Fund for
UNICELF, also touched on the contribution of NGOs,
explaining that NGOs were in consultation with mem-



ber states when the UN was forming and that in
terms of children’s rights, NGOs were at the fore-
front at the UN Summit on Children in 1990, one of
the first UN Summits. She explained that NGOs con-
tinued to play an instrumental role in the Special Ses-
sion in 2002 to review the outcome of the UN Sum-
mit on Children from which emerged A World Fit for
Children, the guiding document on socioeconomic and
other issues relating to children, including 21 specific
goals and targets for the next decade for member
states to achieve.

On a personal note, Ms. Gardinier recalled how she
met Ms. Giragosian in the late 1990s and worked with
her on the UN Briefing on Violence against Women
and Children and other conferences, as well as advo-
cacy for disabled children in Armenia. She referred to
an upcoming Summit on the UN Convention on the
Rights of the Child at the American University, a com-
pletely volunteer effort and a testament to Ms.
Giragosian’s work.

Carol Jaffarian, Professor, Graduate School of
Nursing at the University of Massachusetts in Wor-
cester, MA, recalled Ms. Giragosian as a mentor, de-
tailing Ms. Giragosian’s persistence in getting her in-
volved in setting up an HIV/AIDS Prevention and
Education program in the ARS “Mother & Child”
Health and Birthing Center in Akhourian, Armenia,
given her experience as HIV Clinic Nurse Manager at
the University of Massachusetts HIV Clinic. Ms.
Jaffarian recounted Ms. Giragosian’s work in getting
the HIV/AIDS program off the ground, helping to
secure a grant from the World Aids Foundation, her

constant networking, including with passengers in the
plane on her way to Armenia, to help the Clinic, and
her vision of having the program serve as a model for
other countries. Ms. Jaffarian remembered her last trip
to Armenia with Ms. Giragosian, who was gravely ill,
how she asked her to continue helping the Clinic after
she passed on.

Valentine Berberian of the ARS NGO committee
moderated the panel and gave an overview of Penny’s
work at the UN, particularly the studies sponsored by
UNICEF on violence against children and on disabled
children in Armenia.

A question and answer period followed during
which Georgi-Ann Oshagan, Vice-Chairperson of the
ARS Central Executive Board, asked the panelists what
advice they had on getting individuals involved as vol-
unteers at the UN. Ms. Scotto noted that it is very dif-
ficult to get individuals to take on specific tasks, and
that it takes many people with different skills to con-
tribute. Ms Gardiner mentioned the US Fund for
UNICEF’s online tutorial program and noted, that vir-
tual volunteerism (i.e., via Internet, email) is the wave
of the future.

This program honored the memory of Penny
Giragosian, a volunteer in the truest sense, who helped
the ARS and Armenia in countless ways. It also served
to educate those unfamiliar with volunteering at the
UN about the work of NGOs — including that of
the Armenian Rrelief Society — and how they can
help. By so doing, Penny’s legacy of selflessness and
giving — which touched the lives of so many — can
continue. 9
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BOOK REVIEW

The Armeniad

Visible pages of History.
Text and illustrations by
Boris Baratov

his richly illustrated volume offers a panorama
I I L of the civilization of ancient Armenia. The

text portion of “The Armeniad” is based on the
works of Armenian historians and on the latest research
of a number of European scholars. It tells of the princi-
pal stages in the formation of the Armenian identity and
the Armenian civilization in the mountainous basin of
Lake Van, and in the Ararat and Mush Valleys from the
4th—3rd millennia onwards.

The reader of this beautiful volume will be able to
keep pace with a civilization that has travelled in tandem
with the great cultures of Sumer, Assyria, the Hittites,
Babylon, Persia, Greece, Rome and Byzantium. In leaf-
ing through the handsomelyly designed pages of this
book, the reader will leatn of important 19" and 20™
century archaeological research in Asia Minor, which
uncovered the ‘visible pages’ of the ancient past to an
astounded world. It is by examining the past that our
contemporary wotld is correctly assessed and a peck at
the future made possible.

The book is a repository of art and artifact, contain-
ing marvellous reproductions of ancient and mediaeval
works. The result of many years of arduous research in
the Matenadaran, the Genocide Museum of Yetrevan,
the British Museum and Library, the Hermitage Muse-
um in St. Petersburg and in the Russian State Library,
this volume was made complete by a trip to Turkey to
take pictures of examples of Armenian culture that
have survived in Western Armenia and Cilicia after the
genocidal aggression on all things Armenian during the
years 1915-1923 by both the Ottoman and the Kemalist
Turks.

Almost all materials witnessing to the events and the
monuments to Armenian civilization were barbarically
destroyed and the few that survived on the historic terri-
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10"'x13.5", 336 pages with 600 color
illustrations. Hardbound with dustcovet,
printed in Italy.

tory of Armenia were plundered by enterprising Euro-
peans. Some of these items have ended up in museums
throughout the world. For this reason, we undertook a
special photo-shoot for “The Armeniad” in a number of
famous Buropean museums, from the Pergamon Muse-
um in Berlin to the British Museum. It would take me
many hours to tell you about our shoots in the museums
of Baghdad, Mosul, Ankara, Istanbul or Tehran. Inci-
dentally, in what is known as Persian Armenia (the part
of historical Armenia which was acceded to Persia)
there is still a significant Armenian population and 1
managed to photograph a number of wonderful Arme-
nian monasteties — including those of St. Thaddeus and
St. Stephen.

The book includes some wonderful artefacts of Ar-
menian culture which we were able to view in the store-
houses of the Monastery of SS. James in Jerusalem and
in the treasure house of Holy Ejmiatzin.

All these tiny fragments of evidence and artefacts of
Armenian culture have been brought together in one
book for the first time and in this sense, the illustrations
of “The Armeniad” are truly unique. The reader will
see the ruins of the ancient Armenian capital of
Tigranakert, the maritime fortresses and the mountain
castles of Cilician Armenia, the panorama of the city of
Van in 1916, compared with how it looks today and
much, much more.

I am writing in such detail, so that you will appreciate
that for our publishing house, this book is not a com-
mercial project, but a charitable venture. It is not just a
question of writing the book, having it translated into
English and printed in Italy, but we have also shipped it
especially to the United States.

Anna Petrosova



In Athens,
with the Author of

“The Burnin

This brief encounter with Peter Balakian took place in Athens on

the 17" of May 2006, during the author’s visit to Greece to promote

the Greek edition of his book, «The Burning Tigris». I am thankful

to Mr. Balakian for this opportunity to interview him for “Hai Sird”.

SD. Mr. Balakian, the community considers your book as an
original contribution to existing knowledge of the Armenian
Genocide. 1 wonld like to know what your motivations were in
writing this book.

PB. My whole career as a writer has been an evolu-
tion from my work as a poet and literary scholar to
writing a memoir about growing up as an Armenian
American, which I explored in the process of my
journey into history. Both the history of my family and
the Armenian genocide survivors’ story — like my
grandmother’s — as well as the larger history of the
Armenian people of the Ottoman Empire and the
Armenian genocide. I found myself being very inter-
ested in reading more and more about this history and
I discovered that the American people were deeply
involved in efforts to rescue and save lives by sending
relief to the Armenians. The more I read, the more [
was interested, the deeper and richer the story
emerged for me and I began to see that this is a sig-
nificant cultural project for the USA. I am trained in
American Studies, that’s what my PhD is about, and 1
am thinking that this was in store for me. I believe that
the story was waiting for me. 1 would not have at-
tempted to write just another history of the Armenian
Genocide of 1915 — it has been done. What inter-
ested me was to write about the Armenian Genocide

SARO DEDEYAN

and the whole Armenian crisis, as seen through the
perception of an American Armenian writer. It was
tailor made for me.

SD. Are you able today to measure the impact of this project?

PB. It is hard to measure the impact of one’s
project. But as you know, the book is New York
Times Best Seller. My sense of writing this book was
to explore the Armenian Genocide as an international
event and not just as an Armenian event. I wanted the
story to speak to the broadest range of modern his-
tory, like a contribution to our understanding of mo-
dernity because modern genocide is something unique
that first happened to Armenians, and to understand
the modern era one must understand the history of
the Armenian genocide.

SD. We, the Armenians of Diaspora, believe that the Turks
will recognize the genocide. And speaking of that, you are aware
that these days the members of the Enropean Union discuss the
possibility of Turkey entering the EU. What are your views on
this?

PB. Well, I think that the reason that Europe is mak-
ing an important issue of the Turkish acknowledgment
of the Armenian genocide is because if Turkey does
not develop a capacity of critical analysis of its own
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history, its path and its own society, then it is not a
democratic society, and if it is not a democratic soci-
ety, it can not enter the EU. The interesting thing is that
the Armenian Genocide is an important test for Tur-
key to see if it can develop a democratic cultural
mechanism, and until that can happen, I cannot see
how Turkey can join what is essentially a democratic
family of nations.

SD. Intellectuals like you, from the Armenian Diaspora, bhave
an important contribution to make. Do you believe that the Ar-
menian Diaspora can play a significant role in its relationship
with Armenia?

PB. Yes. I think that the genocide of the Armenian
people happened mostly to Western Armenians who,
today, are what we call the Armenian Diaspora of
USA, Europe, South America, etc. So, I believe that
Armenia today is a complex international concept that
involves the Republic of Armenia and the Diaspora, and
it is not going to be easy — they need to work together.

SD. As you know, Armenia and Greece have traditionally
very good economic, diplomatic and political relationships. How
do you feel, being once again bere in Greece?

PB. I have said it before, that I always feel that
Greece is another kind of homeland. I feel a connec-
tion to the Greek people, to the land and its beauty, its
long history and civilization. Nowhere else in the
world, I think, there is such an acute understanding of
the Armenian past because Greeks and Armenians
share a deep common experience as Christian minori-
ties of the Ottoman Empire in the course of centuries.
And also, do not forget that Armenians played an im-
portant role in the Byzantine Empire with many Ar-
menian emperors of the realm. Armenians and
Greeks have an intertwined history, and I feel those
vibes when I am here.

SD. What are your views in terms of the recognition of the
Armenian genocide by the USA? Thirty-nine states have al-
ready recognized the genocide, but officially, the USA hasn't yet.
Do you believe that in the years to come something will change?

PB. I think, that this is an obscured situation because
the knowledge of the Armenian genocide in the USA
is very broad and people teach regularly in classrooms.
I do think, that there is not any denial in the minds of
the legislative bodies, and probably not even in the
minds of those in the executive branch. The problem
is crass pragmatic politics, and I think that mostly the
blockage of the official recognition is coming from
the defense department, because of military bases and
defense contracts with Turkey. I think, the USA should

stand up to Turkey on this issue and exert moral leader-
ship and know that by acknowledging the Armenian
genocide, the USA will help Turkey to grow up and be-
come a democratic society. I wish we could take that tac-
tic to Ankara because they need help. They act like a child.

SD. Do you believe that the Turks will agree with this argu-
ment — as it is something totally different from what they sup-
port?

PB. I do not know. I cannot answer that. What I can
say is, that there is a group of Turkish scholars who
are trying very hard for their government and society
to change, who write about the Armenian genocide
openly and honestly. I think that a little bit of light is
coming from them and in the end Turkey has to
change on its own.

SD. Do you remain positive that something will change in the
years to come?

PB. I think that one has to always have the hopeful
view in order to pursue social change. We have seen
many changes happen in the world. So, social change
happens in its own strange way, and I think that we
need to convince Turkey that this is to its benefit. I do
believe, that the most important thing is education. If
you educate people in depth, I think, that sooner or
later, it is hard to maintain a big lie, even for the liar.
Yes, it is possible and maybe it is not so far away.

SD. How do you foresee Armenia in twenty or thirty years?

PB. I would like to see Armenia continue devel-
oping economically. I would like to see Armenia
develop fluent pathways to the west and to the east.
I think that Armenians are blessed with a great
work ethic, and intelligence in many different areas
such as trade, arts, sciences, entrepreneurship; but
you need to have luck and maybe it is Armenia’s
time. Obviously, if you told to our grand-parents
that there would be Armenia on the map today,
they would not have have believed it. So, unimagin-
able things happen. If Armenia and the Diaspora
work together in complementary ways, though it is
not always easy, I believe that the new era will bring
a kind of prosperity.

SD. [ presume that you feel very proud of your Armenian
origin. ..

PB. Of course! I am one hundred percent Arme-
nian!

SD
PB

. Peter, thank yon very mnch.
. You are welcome. 9
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THE Hai Sitd youTH
FORUM: Dlseweations

o the SutEighth ARS
[ternational Corwertion

EVERY THREE YEARS, the Armenian Relief Society holds
its International convention. The meeting lasts around a
week and, as stated in the ARS Constitution, it is the
highest body of our organization.

In October of 2005, the Convention was held in
Montreal, in accordance with the ARS, Inc. Bylaws,
which specify that 2 out of 3 of these gatherings have
to be held within the limits of the North American
Continent. As a young woman who has been a member
of the ARS since 1995, I was excited with the prospect
of attending my first International Convention and to
see this august body of a great Armenian organization in
action, listen to the ideas that would turn into
constructive programs through debate, suggestions and
binding resolutions for the next three years of this
organization’s already prolific history.

The week prior to the convention was filled with
plenty of social activities allowing all the members to
interact socially, prior to tackling business. A Saturday
evening banquet was organized to allow more social
interaction, with dinner and dancing and, of course, it
served as a fundraiser as well, to launch the newly
conceived ARS Centennial Fund, with the goal to raise
several million US dollars within the next four years.

Monday, October 10 marked the official opening of
the Convention. Though this was the 68th International
Convention, the Society was 95 years old at the time. A
fact, that can be stated as both a positive or a negative
assessment. Positive, because the Society has a rich,
successful history of continuous assistance to the
Armenian people, be it at trying times, such as the 1915
Genocide, the ecarthquake of 1988, the Karabagh
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Independence war and its aftermath, or, during times of
relative tranquility, when a nascent Armenian diaspora,
and newly-independent Armenian states had to start,
literally, from scratch.

However, although the positive is something to be
proud of and should make every member of the ARS
proud that they belong to a world class organization
whose membership, I may add, is mostly made up of
women, and can easily be considered the largest women’s
philanthropic organization in the entire world, with its 97
long years, comes the negative, as well.

Our organization has reached a point, where the
older, experienced members are slowly reaching a stage,
where they will need to step down from the ranks of
leadership positions and allow younger elements —
presently small in numbers — to gradually take charge to
endure the healthy continuity of this outstanding
organization.

It seems, that older, more experienced members want
to prove, that they still have what it takes to lead, while
the youth want to prove, that they too, are ready to lead.
I am not saying that the older generation is not capable
of continuing the work as they have done for so many
years; what I am simply saying is: Allow the youth to
work alongside as your equals.

You may be surprised by their wish to learn and to
become deeper and deeper involved with the Society,
that we all have come to love. You will discover, that the
devotion that you have exists in them as well, and that
together, the young members of this organization and
the elder ungerubis can keep the Society viable for yet
another 10 decades, allowing many generations of
Armenian women to come in and truly belong to this
great, global family.

The ARS elders seem to have forgotten, that they
were once young and eager to fill positions of
responsibility. Today, young women are reluctant to join
the ARS because they feel it is not for them — when, in
fact, it truly is the Society that gives the youth endless
possibilities to catry the torch, which our mothers and
grandmothers brought, burning bright, into the 21st
century — the era that beckons us, today’s youth, as well
as those of many future generations.

NYREE DERDERIAN, ESQ.



The ARS
Sponsor-A-Child Program

Enters a New Era...

ith recent substantial dona-

tions, among which, those re-

ceived recently from the Ba-

bikian and Garikian families —
made on the occasion of the Christening of their
children, Megig and David, and Aram, Armen and
Cara — the new ARS Orphans Education Program
is off to an auspicious beginning!

Perhaps a brief recap is necessary. During its 97-
year existence, the Armenian Relief Society has had
a tremendous input into the ongoing efforts to sus-
tain our Diasporan structures that keep Armenian
communities active around the globe. One of the
most important facets of that input is the care of
orphans. In the dark days of the 1915 Genocide’s
aftermath, the ARS collected abandoned orphans
scattered throughout the Syrian desert around Der
Zor, fed, clothed and sheltered them and — cogni-
zant of the importance of an education in the
mother tongue — it supported the establishment
and maintenance of community-run kindergartens,
grade and high schools. It is in these institutions of
learning that thousands of parentless children, sur-
vivors of the first genocide of the 20™ century, re- M= - e
gained their humanity and identity, their love of David and Megig Babikian, in Yerevan
learning and the desire to serve their stricken na-
tion and all others in need of support and assistance. ~ who strive for higher education, in order to become

Some seventy years after the devastating blow of productive members of society, support themselves
the Genocide, the Armenian nation was hit by the and their families, improving their own as well as
disastrous earthquake of 1988, and the brutal at- their county’s intellectual and economic potential.
tempt of ethnic cleansing of the Armenian enclave of It is the desire — and a cherished goal — of the
Nagorno Karabagh which turned into a protracted Armenian Relief Society, that over the starting de-
war of survival and liberation. United, and deter- cades of the new millennium, not a single orphaned
mined to prevail, the Armenians, utilizing all exist-  youngster in the Homeland be allowed to remain
ing structures, supplied the needed food, shelter, without adequate schooling. Educated, self-support-
clothing and medicines to the stricken populations  ing individuals are more likely to enjoy the blessings
of a fractured Homeland, a large portion of which of family and home, secure in their own and their
consisted of children who had lost one or both par- county’s present and future.
ents. To make this dream a reality, all those who care to

Responding to the situation, in 1992, the ARS give their financial support are invited to get in
put together a program called “Sponsor-A-Child” It touch with their local ARS offices, and make out a
is time now to ‘sponsor a youth’' — orphans over 18,  check to the ARS Orphans Education Program. 9
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| S AROUND THE WORLD WITH THE ARS

U3 OQuntetUWL UhNHEUL UhUNPLENE G hPELS ANPONFLENHPILE
ENTITIES OF THE ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY AND THEIR ACTIVITIES

] L™

Al Uuqihn) <wj Oquniptiwu Uhniptiwu Utynwuh Uwubwdhinp, npwtu KOU-h 12
dtyniuh dwubwahintntu dpu, hp 110 gnpdou tir odwunwy wunwdutpny, wohunjd wahuwmwup Yp
nwuh <wj Oquniptiwt Upnptwl dpwaghputinntgnpdwnpdwl h puunhp: bp yupnnuywuntpbwu
onin9 tiptip-pwnnpnp wu npwdwnpwd E<wjwunwuh, Wpgwhuh ne Swiwpuph dk9 h gnpd npnenn
dpwahputpnc npnug hwdwp w2huwnwup Yp tnwbh htnGennuyuwuontu: Wu utpyuwynyehiu £ uwbie
nbnwywl hwdtdwwnwpwp thnppwpht qunniehlb UE9 ynpwywl nt puytpwihu dwpqtiptu utipu:
Gnpduwywuontu dwutwygwd t hpwpwhwjniptwl G Lhpwuwhwjnyetwu wudhowywl oqunt-
pLwl:

UptGltwu Uphwgtw] Lwhwuqutpnt <wj Oquniptiwlu Uhnitphtup, np KOU-h
duunngtu uyhqp Y wnut, nituh 33 dwubwahintp, 1 199 gqnpdol Lt odwunwly wunwd-
wunwdnthhutpny, nwpwdntwd Uphwgbw| Lwhwuqutpnt wpbtblGwu wihh gptpt pninp UGd
pwnuwputiptu utipu: KOU-h 2pn9wtiwjhu wju dhwinpp hp nidwyuuniptwt wdtbwdbd pwdhup
npwdwnpwd E yppwyul-nwunhwpwyswyuwl dSpwaghputpne, huswhuht £ <wjwughnwyub Wdwn-
Lwjhtu “Ywupbupwgpltnt Gpywpwdtw) dpwahpp, nput wudhowwtu Gwnp, gptpt unju
hwutdwwnnptwdp, yniqgul <wjwunwuh, Upgwhuh nt Swiwhuph wjjwqwu yuwuphputpnu hwuunn
opwahputipp: Gpowlunp Lowluwywihg Utpnpnud ntutgwd £ hpwph GeLhpwlwUh Uap Juwbgniwd
qunniputpnu odwunwyniphtu hwugutnt w2huwwnwuputpniu JUE9:
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Uptudntwu Uhwgtw] Lwhwuqutpnt <wy Oquniptwu Uhniphtup, Lou Wuskjpup
hwj fupwn puwysniphtup ntubwiny npwtu hwuwmwwnntu Ynphq, hp 26 dwubwahintpny ne 1 357
gnpool tLodwlunwy wunwd-wunwdnthhutpny, wohunyd uGpywyniphitu £ hGunnghGunkE tnwpwdninn
Uthhtnpwhwjniptwl wnwolwhtppe nt puquwunwd wju qunniptu utpu: YwpGuw] oqubnt hw-
dwp qunnipehu Unpwhwuwnwun Ywd Yuphpwenp tnwppGpnieu, wju dhwenpp hp pheinethu down JEy
pwnnnp Yp junywaqut hp puytpwihu dwnwjnipbwlg Spwahputpnil yuunuwnpwpwn wnpdw-
Lwlwny bwhwuqujhu hohuwunthiubtpnt upyewywu odwunwynpetwu: Uhwinpp bwte hp uptenn
utpnnnudp ntuh - wnwouwhtppniptwl upgny - <wjwunwb-Wnpgwh-Swiwhuph 2wpniuwywyul
Spwahputipne, Yppwywu-dpwynipwihu, hpwph G Lhpwbwuh hwinptwl wudhowlywu oguniptiwl,
GLqulwquu wy Jwpqbpt utipu:

i- Upgwph <wj Oquniptwlu Uphniptwlu Utyntuh Uwubwaéhinp, hhdunitwd
wjwuwuh dtp dhwinphu htn dhwdwdwuwy, wjuop ophuwytih wohuwwmwlp yp tnwuh hp 125
agnpdol wunwdutpny yanpnu niutbwiny Untthwuwytpunp nip Gehhduntigwie wnwoht «Uoukb»
Uwuywwuwnpwkqp: Wuon, Lanuwjhu Qwpwpwnh <wbpwwbtnniptwu nnwpwdphu, KOU-h
wudhowywu hnwlwinpniptiwl nnwy, Yul 11 «Uoub» Uwuywwwpuntqutp: Wpgwhuh utp dhwenpp,
hp uwhdwbwhwy Yunptihnyehtuubpniu hwdtdwnnegetwdp hp dwubwygnuehtup Yp ptpk <wj Oqunt-
ptwu Uhniptwlu hwdwhwjywywu dpwaghputpniu juonn hpwywuwguwu:

Uruinpwihng <wj Oquniptwu Uhnuehtup Jtpotipu, Utd o2ntpnyd mobwwwnwntg hp
4 nwuliwdtwyutpnegnpdncutneetiwt 40-wdtwyn: funwdp Up hwewnwinp hwynthhubpneowupbnnd,
Urunpwihny Unpwhwuwinwn qunniphu ke, «Uouk» wunituny Suntun wnwd wju dhwLnpp - wjuon
snowlwhu uwnnjg 3 gnpdniltiwy dwubwdhintpny - hp pwdhup Yp ptpk n's dhwju h'n quinniphl
Uppwywl, dpwynipwiht nt dwupquywtu yuphputpnegnhwgdwl w2huwwnwuplutpniu, wyp bwbe yp
dwutwygh Uhnetwlu hwdw-hwjyuwywu dnpwaghputpnit npnup wjuon Yp gnpdwnpnithu hwyptuh
nuwnwuutptutpu:

I*I Quuwwnuwh <wy Oquniptwlu Uhniphtup - npntu Unupptwih «Uoub» dwubwdahinp
hn 50-wdtwyp mouwywwnwntg wju tnwnph - hnp 1159 wunwdutpniu 10 gnpdnitutiwg dwubiwahintpnt
dbo mwpwd dpwowl wohuwnwupny, wjuon pwgwnhy wntn yp gputt <wj Oquniptwl Upniptwu
w2huwnhwwnwnwd Ywnnjght dto: Qutwwnwih KOU-hU upnnwywuniptwu wibih pwl jhuntu wn
hwphtpp h uwywu Yp npnech wjjwquwt dSpwaghputipnt hpwywuwguwl <wjwuwnwuh, Wpgwhup tio
Swiwhuph dte: Wyu oppuwytith dhwienpp, Unjupw’t unthpnednd, hp pwdhup Yp ptipt mnwywu e
hwdwuthhtnptwl JGp nunwiiiGpniu Yppuwywu-nwunhwpwyswywl GepuyGpughu unnigutpne htin
wnusninn pwquuquu yuphputpnib 2wpnibwyuwywl hnquinnwpnptiw:
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Qtpuwuhny <wj Oquniptwu Uhniphtup, hnppwpht qunniph dp uwhdwuutptu
utipu, 34 gnpdol tit odwunwy wunwdutnny GL<KOUnthhh junncy ynpndnyd gnpdh wugwd, hp pw-
pnjwywu G uphypwywl nidtpniu 2npg 70 wn hwphipp junyugnigwd £ Spwaghp-ubGpne npnup h
qnnd Yp npnthu hwyptuh nunwuubpt uGpu h Wwnwuhpiwl wunug wuhwdwp Ywphputpniu: Wu
dhwinphUu duwgtw yupnnwywuniphtup h uwywu Yp npneh qunnipuwjihu dSpwghputpne:

I oo nnuh <w) Ywnphph luwsp, <w) Oquntptiwl Uhntpbiwl hUwanju dphwinputpty
dhU - utpywjhu uayniuh dwubwéhen - wjuon, hp dadwuwktu boupwgwd qunniehlu Uk, ntuph 227
qnpdol Lt odwunwy wunwdutp” npnug gnpdniutnietwl wikih pwu Jwpuntt wn hwphipp
ytnpnuwguwd E puytipwjhbu-fubwdwwnwpwywu w2huwnmwuputpne ypwy: Uhwenpp, bunnwyw)p nt-
utuwny Guwhpptu, 2ntpe 3 000 hwontnn hwdwjuphu U9, yp 2wpntbwyt qpwnhi bwbie Yppwyw,
dowyntpwiht trw dpwghputpne vpwydwdp negnpdwnpnipbwdp:

ﬂ 9nihgtiphn) <wj Oquniptwu Uhniptwl Utynwuh Uwubwahin.- UGwwnGdptp 2,
2006-hu, Onithgtiphny Fht] pwnwphu Uke, KOU-h Utinn. Ywpsniptiwl wntuwwbnnthh, puyh. Swudhy
Stpwntptwu - puytpwygniptwdp bpwluuwhw; bwwnyn lwsh wntbwwbwnehh, puyh. <kEEU
Utpawutiwlh —- yuwnwntg tpndwl wpwpnnnephtup, OU-h 2wpptipniu k9 punniutiinyg funtdp dp
qnthgtiphwhuwj yhutp npwtu hhduwnhp wunwJuutpp Gipnwwgh ko <wy Oquniptiwu UpnipbwU
unp utyniuh dwubwahinh dp, 24-h hwugutiny wju Gpyhputipnwu phip, nup <OU-p gnpdntutiwg dhw-
tnputp ntuph wyuon:

T

— pupweh <wp Oquniptiwu Upniphtup, huswtu wugbwihu, wjuop tru, Gpniuwntdhp,
<wdwjh, Gr3nwwth hp Gptp UGynwuh dwubwahintpny - hwywnwy hupwjtjwpbwy hwy qunniphl
uwhdwbwhwy hwdpwuphu G puyGpwhb nL inbntuwywl pwqduquwl ndntwpniphituutGpniu -- hn
uwpbhu yp 2wpnibwyt put, dwubwyhg nwnuwiny <wjptuhptu utpu <wj Oquniptiwl Upniptwlu
hwdwhwjjuwywlu quuwquwl dSpwghputpniu juonn hpwywuwguwl w2puwnwuputpniu:

I I w) Oquniptiwu Upniptwu hunwihn) Utyntuph Uwubwdhinh dp untinddwu
wnuwow-nnniptwdp, UGpYuwihu w2fuwnwlp Yp tnwpnth hhduwnhp uncdph dp uqunupGwU hwdwp:
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Wohuwwnwupp yanpnuwgwd £ Uhjwungh hwy qunniph 2powbiwytlu utpu: Lhwynju Gup, np <OU-h
100-wdtwyEu wnwe, wju Gr<npwuwnw)h’ utg dhwinph dp qnjg Spwghputipp hpwywuwgwd Y’ pul
--26-h hwugutiiny wju Gpyhputpniu phep, nip <OU-p wyuon Uhwitnputip nitup:

B Lhpwuwhwy Oquniptwl huwsp - hwywnwy Yytpohu tnwphutpniu Gpyphu nt Upghu
UptGph Uk9 nhpnn pwnwpwlwl G nuinGuwywl wuyuwjntu G jwéwh pwnuwjhu yhdwyhtu - yp
swpntuwyt Juw utip Upnipbwl hwunwnntu Ge wndwywt wdpngp npuytu <KOU-h hwgptlwdtind
dhwitnp: bp 26 dwubwahintpniu ko udwinp w2puwinwuph (dntwd with pwu 3 500 wunwdutpnd,
hnp hwupwdwuop Mnynnipétwl Cuytpw-Fdoyuywu Yenpnund, LOtu-p hp pw-pnjuwu nt
agnpduwywu Gruhtpwywl uapnpndp ncuh <OU-h pnin'p dwpqtiptu btpu, gnpdwygbiiny unjuwwntu
UNICEF-h, World Health Organization-h, World Vision-h it Caritas-h udwUu Upwqquwjhu juquwytp-
wniphubutpne hGun:

Uhwpnuh <wj Oquniptwlu Uhniptwlt Utyntuh Uwubwdhin.- Wu thnpphy,
dhwdwdwlw wuhwdtdwwnoptt wohunyd vhwinphu wnwobwhtipe dnwubittnnidp Gnwd Eneyp
duw) <wjwuwnwup, Upgwhuh nt@wiwpuph htn dhwntn: Wpnwpte, hp pwpnjuub ntbhtpwyuw
Jjuwnyuwgndutpniu wittith pwt 80 wn hwphipp hwyptuh nunnwultpt Utpu gnpdwnpbih Spwahputpn
Up Jjwwnywagnth: Lnjuwwntu, wju dpwowl Jhwenpp hp gnpduwywl UbGpnpnwdp nluh quinnihu
Uppwywu nt dowyntpuwihb yGwupklu utpu:

- fKwjwutnwuh <wj Oquniptwu Uphniphtup, wbugtw| wwph, dtd 2ntpny
molwlywwwntg hp hhduwnpniptwu 15-wdtwyp™ np Yp gniqunhwh <wjwuwnwuh 9.
Lwupwwbwnneebwl juynwpwnniptwl nwptnupahu: Wu qnjq hwunhungshiubtpniu dwupwdwul
nL wywwnytpwqupn uywpwanpwywup, gph wnuntwd puyh. Knpah-Wu Or2wwup ynnuk, ywpbih t
nbiuut <wj Uhpnh wju hwdwphu e unthpnuwd <wjwutwuh <OU-h 15-wdtwyhu: Utp hwyptup
dhwinpp ntuh 63 dwubwéhentp <wbpwwtnngptwl nwpwdphu 1 594 wunwdutpny: Uhwinpp hp
w2iuwwnwuputpp yonpnuwgnigwd £ Jwubwenpwpwnp Gphunwuwpnwywu dpwqghpubpne
hpwgnpddwl ypwy, npdt Gunp hp npwnpniptwlu wnwnpyw) yp duwt ppbwdwnwpwywl neyppwyw
hwpgtipp G wunug wnusninn dSpwghputpp:
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(Updwlphl) ‘ (Fpwqhihw) e (pniqniwy)

[wpwiwjhu Wdtphywih <wj Oquniptiwu Uhniphtup, Gptp hpGpwdtnd Gpyhputpne dke
hwunwwnniwd hp 7 Jwubwahintpniu witih pwu 1200 wunwdutpnd, ophuwytih wohuwwnwup Yp
nwuh, dwubweinpwpwp nunbuwwlt Sdwunp wwjdwlblubtpne b9 gunbninn Gptgubpnt
hnquwwwpniptwl htpwjwnnty Jwpqtl utpu: Wpnwpt, <KOU-h <wbgquuntwu Sniup 2powlh
Juipsniptiwl gnpdniubniptwl wnwolbwhtppe ntnp Up gpuitk: Wunp ynnphu, <wpwiwihu Wdtphywgh
dop <OUnthhutipp G sGU Juwnp wj 2powuutpt” hptug pwquwquwl utpnpnudutipnyg
nwunhwnpwyswywu, dowynipwjhu, pwupGuhpwyuwl G wj Jwpqbpkt utpu Guu, dp2n punwnwotiny
hwjpGuh nunwuutpne yuphputpniu:

e e

| [Se—

Uwytnnuhnj tL Gpwyhn) <wj Qpniptwl luwsp, 3ntbwuwnmwuh <wj Ywwnjn luwshu
htw, J’wdpnnowqgut KOU-h tpywpwwntit ubpyuwynyehiup 3ntbwhwy qunniptu ubpu: luwphwhphh
hp dwdpwpny dwuop, [Ftuwnnuhyt ytnpnwgwd wju dhwenpp, hp wnyw) ni-dtpniu -- 6
dwutwahintp® 346 wunwdutpny - junwowgnigwd Jupnnwywunptwl 35 wn hwphipp yp
Junyuwagut Kwjwuwnwuh, Upgwpuh e Swewpuph dpwghputipnegnpdwnpuwl. pwnwuntl wn hwphipp
wdwnUwjhu owdpwnputpnt yuqdwytpwdw G puytpw-pd2gwywu dSpwghputpne w2puwnwp-
utpnuTdbwgbwip junyw-gutiny pwyntpwjhu-nwunhwpwyswywu Yuphpubpnt:

= Snpnwuwuh <wj Oquniptiwu Uphniehtu.- Wddwlh dbe yanpnuwgwd wju dbayniuh
dwutwahtnp, hp 113 KOUwywuutpny, ophuwytih wopuwwnwup Yp tnwbh™h uunhp <wjwunw-
Upgwhuh, puytpwjhb-pubwdwnmwpwyuwl, yppwywu, nt dwubwenpuwpwn” bpupwhwjniptwu
odwunwyntphtt hwugutint KOU-h Gpywpwwntic Spwghputpne2wpnibwuyut gnpdwnpnipbwl:
Uhohu UptittGwu wyu thnpn qunniehu dnghu ko gnpdnn wju dhwenpp up2un wickihny yunwpwd
EOUwywuh hp wwpuwenpniphuubpp:

|
H B

Sntbwuwnwuh <wj Ywwnjn flvwsp (Wptlup), npwtu 2ntinny hwphipwdtwy <wyj
Oquniptiwl Upniptwl wnweohu dhwenputptu upu, utpyuwyhu, hp 5 dwubwéhentpniu ko Yudwenn
wo2huwnwuph 15ntwd down 600 KOUnthputinny, gptpt unju hwdtdwwnniptwdp — quuwqul
dwpnwuhpwywl wy dpwghputipnt ynnpht - hp pwpnjwywl pt uhtpwywl wnphiputpp h gnpd Yp
nut yppwywl, pbwdwnwpwywl, hwjwunwn dudnyh Yuphputpniu GehwjpGuh nunwuuGpniu Jko
h qnpd npnnn <OU-h hwdwhwjyuwywu dpwghputpne hpwyuwbwgdwl:
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- - Cniknph <wj Oquniptwlu Uhniphtt (Muuwuwqw, Upnpghnid).- &Gniknh Gpynt
thnppwpeht qunniputpnu Uk hp wohuwnwlpn tnwunn wju dGynuh dwubwahp Yp pwnyutig 52
qgnpdol Lt odwunwy wunwdutint: W daynwuh dwubwahentpne bdw, Upnphnuh G Nwwuwwgh
puytip-puytpnthhutipp hptug gnpdniutnetiwl |Nht 80-wn-hwphipp Yenpnuwgnigwd Gu Kwyptuh
nuinnwultipnt htn wnusninn dpwahputipnt gnpdwnpuwU’ wnwlg wylbwpenn pubint mbtnwyw,
puyGpwhu nLdwyntpwht ywnphputipp:

iy

[alitiiaan s MNwpuywuwnmwuh <wj Oquniptwu Uhniphtu (Bwiphq, MNipdhw).-
Kwjwunwbwdbtnéd wju hhuwenipg qunniphu dtg Junnig hhd npwd dtp Jhwenpp, ubpyuy
pwnwpwywu wugninwpadtpnt untndwd nhtwbwghwnwywl n’s puptUwywum wwjdwuubpne
hGwntLwupny, Gpywnp dwdwuwyt h 4ap uwunuwenp bwdwywagpniptut gnipy £ UGnpnuwywu
Qpuwututwyp: Uhwinpp Yp qpwnh ntnwywu punjp nlutgnn Spwaghputipny:

- Mnyywphn) <wj Oquniptwu Uhnughtup, npnit wpfuwwmnwluplbpnit J6d dwun
U’nunanpyt unp utpnunh hwjtgh nwuwmhwpwynehup, hp 5 dwubwéahentpny Gr wekh pwu 400
gnpdol it odwunwy wunwuutpny, hp uwhdwuwthwy Yuptihnyehtuutpp junyugnigwd £E<KOU-h
ntnwyuwl pt hwdwhwjywwl bwywunwywnpnuwud dSpwghputpne hpwywuwgdwl:

£
] Untphwhwy Oqunipbwu fluwsp, hp 9 dwubwéhintpnit Ut dpwowl w2huwnwlph
(Sntwd witih pwt 2 000 gnpdniutiwg puytpnithhutpnd, wjuon Yp 2wpnibwyt dvuw <wj Oquniptiwl
Uphniptwl Utd puinwuhphu uwpbuipwanju uhtutpEl uhu: Wu dvhwinphu bpypwywl pE pwpnjuiwu
utpnpndhu wikh pwit 50%-p puytpwhu-fubwdwnwpuywl w2buwnwuputpne e UOhU-h <wjtwgh Mw-
tnuwwpwuhu yp junyuwgneh: UOhU-n, unjuwwntl, yuptinp Uspnpnud ntuh quunnieh nuwunhwpwyswyuil-
dowynipwiht Ytwupktu utpu, wnwlug wuwmbutint KOU-h hwjptuh nunwuutpt btpu nwpwd
w2huwnwuputpp npnug hp hwdtdwnmwywl dwubiwygneshiup Yp ptipk puwpnjuwtu pt upypwwtu:

+ ] +

+ 8 * Jpwunwuh <wj Oquniptiwt Upnipht (Swiwfup).- KOU-h jupwptGpwpwn unp
wju Jwubwahinp, hwywnw 2p9wbhu Uk nhpnn puytpwjhu ne nunbuwywl wuunnig yhawyhu,
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wohunjd gnpdntutniehtl gnjg Ynuinwj qutiwuqwt dwnpgtipt utpu: KOU-h UGd puinwuhphu hnguitnwn
wowygniptwdp, hwiptuh wwundwywl nwpwdph ynpwy gnndnn wju vhwnpp, wp w2huwnwupubpn
ynnphtu, Y’ntuuw) nwpnguywu dpgnjputp hwy dnnnynitpnh wwwndwywl wugbwihu 2np9, Un
Spwankt nt Yhpwwlwguk wnnnowwwhwwl nt Gphinwuwpnwywu unp yenpnuutGpne untndnedp
Whuwipwiwph, bhungdhuwnwih e Upuwigpuwh hwjwpuwy wiwuuGpniu nt ghtnGpniu dkg, quiny
nwny hwtgh nwunhwpwpw-yniptwl w2fuwnwupuGpniu:

= Pnityph <wy Oquniptwlu Uhniphtlu.- Swdtdwwmwpwp Unp wju dayniuh dwu-
uwahtnp, hp 73 gnpdol it odwlnuy wunwdutpny, hp Yupnnnyetwl uwhdwlutpniu Uk, nid 4nwunwyg
aliuwtnpwpwn Uppwywu-dpwynipwihl, Kwjwunwl-Wpgwhuh G puytpwihu puwdwnwpwywl
Snwahputpnt hpwywuwgdwu Uthhinph pt hwyptuh nunnwuutipne Utg:

I I Dpwuvwhwy Yuwwnjn luws.- UGS tntnutu h dtp 2wupnibwuyuu gnpdniutniphiu
gnigwptpwd wju Jhwinpp wyuon ntup 19 dwubwéhintp nep 635 gnpdol tir odwunwy KOUwywultn
anndh Gu Sntwd ntnwywl pt hwdwhwjywywlu dpwaghpuGpne hpwgnpddwl wnwownpwlupny:
Kwlpwdwuop t MEppouptuh Gwdpwpp nip wdtu twnh wjjwquwu Gpyhputpt wwwnwuhubp hpwn
pny Yntqut wdwnniw) wpbdwynipnhu” hpwnp dwuopwuwnt hwjwontus Upuninpunh up dte: Wu
dhwinpp yuww Yp wwhke UNICEF-h, UNESCO-h, GL INALCO-h udwu uh9wqquwjhu yuqUuwytGpwnt-
phiuutpne htn: Uwpnwuhpwywl punuwpdwy utpnpned ntuh hwypGuh nunwuubpt btpu, huswtu
LwbtL ntnuwywu Yyppwywu-dwynipwht wunwuwnwulbGpt utpu: 9
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ON THE FIRST THRESHOLD OF
A CENTURY OF DEDICATED SERVICE

191020UARS52010

The Centennial Fund of the Armenian Relief Society

A Centennial Fund for the Armenian Relief Society has been established in recognition of
the oldest and largest Armenian women’s organization to further enhance its humanitarian
activities around the world.

R elief being the middle name of the ARS, during most of the 20* century, ARS programs
centered on the Armenian Diaspora in order to bring stability to a people devastated by the
1915 Genocide. In 1988, the much needed relief work in the aftermath of the earthquake that
hit Armenia’s northwest expanded forever the mission and duties of the Society.

Service to Armenia soon developed toinclude assistance to Artsakh and Javakhq with various
programs designed to restore and preserve Armenian presence - both physical and spiritual
- in both of those historically Armenian inhabited regions, with numerous clinics,
kindergartens, schools, community and social service centers, etc.

Today, on the first threshold of its second 100 years, the ARS asks you to join those
who have already contributed to the ARS Centennial Fund in recognition of the Society’s
past accomplishments and in support of its world-wide, present and future
humanitarian endeavors.

YES, I want to help the Armenian Relief Society, Inc. continue its service to the Armenian
people by making adonation to the ARS Centennial Fund.

ADDRESS ..ottt

The Armenian Relief Society, Inc. is a 501 (¢)(3) organization. Your tax exempt donation will be
deposited into the ARS Centennial Fund. All donations will be acknowledged by our headquarters
located at 80 Bigelow Avenue, Watertown, MA 02472. You can call us at (617) 926-5892 if you wish to
donate stocks, property, bonds or similar instruments. You may also e-mail us at manager@ars1910.org.

.. Contriluie Generovsly
Centennial Fund of the Armenian Relief Society
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

THE CENTRAL EXECUTIVE BOARD
ABRMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.
Watertown, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Armenian Relief Society, Inc. as
of May 31, 2006, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Society’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of
Armenian Relief Society, Inc. were audited by other auditors whose report dated August 5, 2005,
expressed an unqualified opinion.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2006 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Armenian Relief Society, Inc. as of May 31, 2006, and the results of its
operations, and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

%an@a—

Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

August 24, 2006

Parent, McLaughlin & Nangle
Cernified Public Accounrans, [ne.

1441 Federal Seroet 100 Cummings Cerser K5 Rangreay Road Tiem Commamres Wiy
Boson, MA 02110-171% Suim 4350 Foresr Ridge Office Park, Bldg #1 Bayniham, MA 027671017
01774 S0 Famvrly, BllA (719 S| (i Billetica . M& O1LB&2-2 105 S08/EA0-495%

Fax Mo 617/42339%5 STRINE | S SRR 5 Fax Mo, SOREII-6976

Fax M, OTRMIT-3414 Pas P, STHI0 -5 50
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Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable

Investments
Building, net

Total Assetls

ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MAY 31, 2006 AND 20035

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Total Liabilities

NET ASSETS:
Unrestricted

Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted

Total Met Assetls

Total Liabilities and Met Assets

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

2006 2005
$ 374962 § 438233
42,712 62.237
1,799,993 2,208,538
43211 45227
$ 2260878 § 2,754.235
§ 194972 0§ 205,106
194,972 205,106
462,572 635.233
1,545 481 1,856,079
57,853 57.817
2,065,906 7,549,129
§ 2260878 §_ 2754235
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ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2006 AND 2005

2006 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Change in net assets (% 483223) (% 219,108)
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets o
net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation 2,016 2,016
Unrealized appreciation on investments, net { 97930 ) 92,647 )
Realized (gain) loss on sales of investments, net 62,077 i 17,152 )
Amortization of bond premium 2,629 1,591
Decrease in accounts receivable 19,525 6,426
Decrease in prepaid expenses - 10,0040
(Increase) decrease in accounts payable and
accrued expenses i 10,134 ) 40,057
Total adjustments { 21818 ) 49,709 )
Met cash used in operating activities ( 505,041 ) | 208,817 )
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of investments ([ 580624 ) | 444762 )
Proceeds from sales of investments 1,018,571 770,120
Proceeds from paydowns of investments 3,823 10,451
Net cash provided by investing activities 441,770 335,809
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents { 63,271 ) s, 902
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 438,233 371,241
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year § 374962 ¥ 438233

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2006 AND 2003

A, Orgamization:
General and Basis of Presentation

The Armenian Relief Society, Inc. (the Society) is an independent, nongovernmental and
nonsectarian organization which serves the humanitarian needs of the Armenian people, and seeks
to preserve the cultural identity of the Armenian nation, throughout the world.

General Funds

The general funds are comprised of all funds which are not designated for a specific purpose.
These funds are utilized in achieving the objectives of the Society at the discretion of the Central
Executive Board. These funds are expended on projects or provided to organizations that promote
social, cultural and health services to the Armenian people. Approximately $132,000 and $209,000
of the donations received in the general fund for the years ended May 31, 2006 and 2003,
respectively, were earmarked for specific programs and grants.

ARS Emergency Relief Fund

This fund was established as a result of the Fund for Armenian Resources (FAR) Campaign (the
Campaign). The Campaign was created with the purpose of increasing the resources of the Society
to enable it to provide assistance (o Armenian communities worldwide in need of emergency aid
due to natural disasters of war.

Armmenia/Artsakh Fund
This fund provides emergency relief in Armenia and Artsakh.
Javakhk Fund

This fund was established in April 2001 for the purpose of providing educational, cultural, and
social support for Armenians in Javakhk.

Educational Funds

The educational funds are comprised of funds contributed by individuals to provide scholarships to
Armenian students. By decree of the donor, these amounts are restricted for specified purposes, as
outlined below:

[*]
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ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2006 AND 2005
(continued)

A, Organization: (continued)
Educational Funds: (continued)

Samuel and Agnes Eremian Fund

This fund is used to provide educational scholarships for Armeman students.

Baghdoyan and Baloonian Funds
These funds are used to provide scholarships for students attending Palanjian Jemaran.

Jizmajain Fund
The income from this fund is used to provide scholarships as follows:

* Two annual scholarship disbursements of approximately $200 each to The Karen Jeppe
College in Aleppo, Syria, and The Nishan Palanjian College of Beirut, Lebanon.

»  One scholarship of $1,000 to the Armenian Sisters Academy for the Mary Jizmajian
Scholarship Fund.

The principal and twenty-percent of the interest eamed from the Jizmajian Fund are
permanently restricted by decree of the donor. All other amounts are classified as temporarily
restricted,

Sivart Kalaydjian Scholarship Fund

This fund is used to assist needy children of Armenia and Artsakh in their college education.
Twenty-percent of the income from the Sivart Kalaydjian Scholarship Fund is permanently
restricted by decree of the donor. All other amounts are classified as temporarily restricted.

Sponsor A Child Fund

This fund was established in June 1992 for the purpose of providing direct support to Armenian
children through sponsorship. The donors contribute an annual amount which is used to support the
individual child that the donor has elected to “sponsor.” All of the funds contributed to this fund
are forwarded to the sponsored Armenian children. In 1999, the members increased the amount to
sponsor a child from $120 per child to $130 per child. This $10 per child increase is to cover
administrative costs.




ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2006 AND 2005
{continued)

A. Organization: (continued)

Centennial Fund

The Centennial Fund is an international fundraising effort to raise $5,000,000 over the next three
years. During the fundraising period, all donations will be temporarily restricted. After the
fundraising period, all donations raised, after expenses, shall be permanently restricted. Only the
interest and dividends thereon shall be available o be spent by the Central Executive Office to
support its operations.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Basis of financial statement presentation:

The Society prepares its financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. This basis of accounting involves the application of accrual accounting; consequently,
revenues and gains are recognized when earned, and expenses and losses are recogmized when
incurred.

The accompanying financial statements reflect only the books and records of the Central Executive
Office of the Society, and do not represent the consolidated results of any other affiliated Armenian
relief organization.

J I estimat

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting peried. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

" Net assets:

The Society follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 117, “Financial
Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations,” i1ssued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
{(FASB) for presentation of its financial statements. Net assets and revenues, expenses, gains and
losses are classified based on donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Society
and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

10




ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued);

Met assets — (continued):
Unrestricted net assets:

Unrestricted net assets represent those assets either not subject to donor-imposed
restrictions or amounts released from temporarily restricted net assets designated
for stipulated activities or programs, which are expended within the current fiscal

year.

Temporarily restricted net assets:

Temporarily restricted net assets are subject to explicit or implicit donor-imposed
stipulations that may or will be met by actions of the Society and/or the passage of
time.

Permanenily restricted net assets:

Permanently restricted net assets are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that
they be maintained permanently by the Society, Generally, the donors of these
assets permit the Society to use all or part of the income eamed on related
investments for general or restricted purposes.

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash deposits, money market mutual fund holdings and
highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at date of purchase.

Investiments:

Investments consist of government and general agency obligations, common stock, bond and
stock funds. All investments are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair market
value in the statement of financial position based on quoted market prices. All realized and
unrealized gains and losses from investments are included in the statement of activities in the
penod in which they occur, The cost of investments sold is based on the specific-identification
method.

Gains or losses on the sale of restricted fund assets are recorded in accordance with the
restrictions imposed by the donor. All other investment income is considered unrestricted
unless otherwise specified.

" TR AAI]



ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2006 AND 20035

{continued)

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued):
Building:

The building is recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful life of the applicable asset. The building is depreciated using a useful life

of 31.5 vears.
2006 2005
Building b 63,504 5 63,504
Less accumulated depreciation i 20,293 ) ( 18,277 )
Total building 43,211 45,227
Income Tax Status;

The Society has received a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service stating that
it is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)3) of the Internal Revenue Code,

Revenue:

Revenue from investment income, dues and subscriptions is recognized when earned.
Contributions are recognized when an unconditional promise to give is received by the
Society.

The Society follows SFAS No. 116, “Accounting for Contributions Received and
Contributions Made™. In accordance with SFAS No. 116, contributions received are recorded
as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted support, depending on the
existence and/or nature of any donor restrictions. In-kind donations are reflected at their fair
values at the date of receipt.

Reclassifications:

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2005 financial statements in order to conform
with the presentation used in the 2006 financial statements.

12




C. Investments:

ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2006 AND 2005

{continued)

Investments of the Society are comprised of the following at May 31, 2006 and 2005:

LIS governmeml and gencral
agency obligations:
General Fumd
Edwcational Fund
ARS Emergency Reliel
Fumd
Tokal U5 powernment and
gemeral agency obligaions

Comman stock:
(reneral fund

Totsl common stock

Baond fumds and cenificates of deposat:

Cienaeral Fund
Educationsl Fand

ARE Emergency Relid
Fund

Towsd bond fands

S1ock funds:

Cieneral Fund

Educationsl Fumd -

ARS Emergency Relid
Fund

Total stock fnds

Total investments

13

P 2005
Linrealized Lmrealized
Fair Apprecialion Fair Approcibion
Cost Walug {Depreciation) Cest Walug {Depreciaton)
5 1961 § 4066 § 105 5 51 % 5040 ¥ 542
1,50 ES6 ( 1,044 3424 2047 | 1,377 4
1433 1 .5EH § 1,745 } 4,257 2,900 | 1,357 §
G4 bl 2684 ) 13,079 1L EET [ 2,191 )
11 464 5053 B311 § 11,464 4046 | TAIE )
11,464 5,153 { 6311 ) 11,464 4,0 | 7418 )
68,622 68,563 ( %) 159 256 3495 15,760 )
435 521 403 577 | 20644 ) 438,149 441,333 3185
356,305 334,780 ( 1,553 ) 45K, 123 454 630 | 33,4593
BAD 446 B0, 190 | 31,256 ) 1,285 528 250,460 | 46,068 )
M), TER 116,819 116,051 298939 3735157 T4.21%
31,332 43 052 11,TH) M 62 15 408 9,143
S0 Sdh G149, 149 1 205 4Th T3 547,153 TI110
T42 b L 136,974 799,674 054, 145 154,471
5 160327 % I, ey % 196, TL3 § L1945 % 2TBS5IE % 9,793
_  ——eee




ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{continued)

C. Investments — (continued):

Investment activity consisted of the following for the vears ended May 31:

2006 2005
Investments at beginning of year $ 2,208,538 § 2436139
Investment return:
Dividend and interest income 98,712 92,633
Realized gains and (losses), net i 62,077 ) 17,152
Unrealized gains, net 97,930 92,647
134,565 202,432
Amount appropriated for operations i 543,110 430,033 )
$ 1,799,993 $ 2,208,538
. Educational Funds:

The net assets of the Educational Funds consisted of the following, as of May 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006
Temporarily Permanently
Restricted Restricted Total

Eremian £ 326,147 % - £ 326,147
Baghdoyan 40,575 - 40,575
Baloonian 28,412 - 28,412
Kalaydjian 18,460 415 18,875
Jizmajian 9,679 57,438 67,117

423,273 57.853 481,126
Unrealized loss on investments | 18,967 ) - 18,967 )

P 404306 0§ 57853 % 462,159

14




ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2006 AND 2005

(continued)
D. Educational Funds — {continued):
2005
Temporarily Permanently
Restricted Restricted Total

Eremian $ 325460 % - $ 325460
Baghdoyan 40,490 - 40,490
Baloonian 28,352 - 28,352
Kalaydjian 18,428 407 18,835
Jizmajian 9,566 57,410 66,976
422,296 57.817 480,113

Unrealized gain on investments 10,951 - 10,951
§ 433247 % 37,817  § 491,064

E. Agency Fund:

The Society manages a trust established for the purpose of investing funds on behalf of the South
American Regional Armenian Relief Society. Management has determined that these funds should
not be included in its financial statements. The amounts held in trust for the South American
Regional were $74,751 and $108,342 at May 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

F. Concentration of Credit Risk:

Armmenian Relief Society, Inc. maintains money market mutual fund accounts at a brokerage firm
and cash balances at several banks throughout the United States. Bank balances are insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), up to $100,000. Money market mutual fund
accounts are not insured by FDIC. As of May 31, 2006, uninsured amounts of cash and cash
equivalents aggregated approximately $156,000.
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ARMENIAN RELIEF SOCIETY, INC.,

SCHEDULE OF GRANTS AND PROGRAM EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED MAY 31, 2006

From the General Fund:
Creneral Grants and Program Expenses:

Earmarked Donations 3 132,430

International Convention 33,642

United Nations 11,258

Publications 11,006

Youth Exchange 7,000

195,336

Armenia/Artsakh Fund Grants and Program Expenses:

Kindergarten 123,200

Orphanages 30,500

Scholarships 11,780

Mother & Child Center 8,000

Armenian Office 6,000

5t. James School 2,500

181,980

Educational Fund Grants and Program Expenses:

Scholarships/Grants 21,500
Sponsor a Child Fund Grants and Program Expenses:

Grants for Children 420,417
Javakhk Fund Grants and Program Expenses:

Grants for Javakhk 81,500
Centennial Fund Grants and Program Expense:

Fundraising Expenses 24,528
ARS Emergency Reliel Fund Grants and Program Expenses.

Mother & Child Clinic 253,000

Armenia Office 46,800

All Armenia Fund 25,250

Kindergarten 20,000

Direct Travel 11,213

Nigo Aghbalian School 1,000

UMASS HIV/AIDS Program 278

Total General Fund Grants and Program Expenses 3 1,282,802
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